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Introduction: A President, a Prosecutor, and the Protection of American Democracy



by Rosalind S. Helderman and Matt Zapotosky of The Washington Post

The special counsel investigation that threatened Donald Trump’s presidency was born of the commander-in-chief’s rage.

In his first months in office, Trump had seethed over FBI director James B. Comey’s refusal to tell the world that the president was not being scrutinized personally as part of the bureau’s investigation of whether the Trump campaign had coordinated with Russia to interfere with the 2016 presidential race.

On May 9, 2017, Trump snapped. In a sharp break from Washington norms that afford FBI directors ten-year terms to give the bureau independence from politics, the president unceremoniously fired Comey. He conveyed the news in a terse letter, hand-delivered to FBI headquarters by his former personal bodyguard.

Trump’s closest aides had warned him that the move could trigger a political uproar and lead to an expansion of the Russia inquiry—and it did.

Lawmakers on Capitol Hill cried foul. The FBI, already deep into its investigation of election interference, now feared that the most powerful man in the country was trying to obstruct its work. And Rod J. Rosenstein, the No. 2 official at the Justice Department, who had written a memo supporting Comey’s dismissal, was incensed about the way the White House was pinning nearly all responsibility for the firing on him. He briefly considered resigning. Instead, Rosenstein turned to Robert S. Mueller III.

The deputy attorney general announced on May 17, 2017, that he had appointed the then-seventy-two-year-old Vietnam veteran and former FBI director to lead an independent investigation of interference in the 2016 election and other matters that might stem from the inquiry.

It was a broad mandate.

Over the next twenty-two months, Mueller, who had led the FBI through the attacks of September 11, 2001, and embodied the bureau’s straight-arrow traditions, quietly and methodically investigated Trump and nearly everyone in his orbit, trying to determine whether any had conspired with the Kremlin to tilt the election, and whether the president himself had tried to obstruct justice.

That investigation culminated on March 22, 2019, when Mueller formally concluded his work and submitted a final report to Attorney General William P. Barr.

Barr held a press conference on April 18, less than two hours before the two-volume Mueller findings—Report on the Investigation Into Russian Interference in the 2016 Presidential Election—would be turned over to Congress. The attorney general noted repeatedly there was no “collusion”—a word Trump had popularized as he attacked the investigation—and revealed how the White House and Trump’s personal lawyers had been given an advance look at the redacted document.

Barr’s description of Mueller’s report was favorable to Trump. In addition to finding no coordination between the Trump campaign and Russia, the attorney general said, Mueller had declined to reach a conclusion on whether the president had obstructed justice.

But the anodyne description belied what would soon be released. Mueller’s report, despite redactions, offered a stunning account of how Russia worked to help the Trump campaign and how Trump’s associates were willing to accept Russian assistance, and it presented an explosive and detailed narrative of how Trump sought to shut down the investigation as he worried about its impact.

“This is the end of my presidency,” Trump said, by Mueller’s account, when he learned of the special counsel’s appointment.  “I’m fucked.”

Some—though not all—of what Mueller revealed had already been publicly known, though the report added layers of both facts and legal analysis. It told readers what the special counsel believed really happened at some shadowy, meetings. Mueller’s team, for example, described how in early August 2016, Trump’s then-campaign chairman, Paul Manafort, met with a man whom the FBI had assessed as having ties to Russian intelligence and that that individual wanted “to deliver in person a peace plan for Ukraine that Manafort acknowledged to the Special Counsel’s Office was a ‘backdoor’ way for Russia to control part of eastern Ukraine.”

“Both men believed the plan would require candidate Trump’s assent to succeed (were he elected President),” the special counsel wrote. “They also discussed the status of the Trump Campaign and Manafort’s strategy for winning Democratic votes in Midwestern states.”

Mueller over and over again detailed moments when Russian government officials and others tried to make contacts with Trump’s campaign, including a number of episodes not previously revealed in press coverage: A New York banker told the campaign about an outreach he’d received from "senior Kremlin officials" and tried to invite Trump to Russia; Russian Deputy Prime Minister Sergei Prikhodko emailed Trump’s assistant to ask the then-candidate to attend a Russian economic forum.

But the report confirmed, as Barr had suggested, that Mueller did not find a conspiracy between the Trump campaign and the Russians—though it suggested they had a shared motive.

“Although the investigation established that the Russian government perceived it would benefit from a Trump presidency and worked to secure that outcome, and that the Campaign expected it would benefit electorally from information stolen and released through Russian efforts, the investigation did not establish that members of the Trump Campaign conspired or coordinated with the Russian government in its election interference activities,” Mueller’s team wrote.

Mueller made clear that prosecutors did not consider "collusion" a legal term and never performed an analysis of that issue. They instead looked to see whether campaign aides made any agreements with Russians to assist in their effort to interfere in the election. Using that standard, they determined they could not establish that coordination took place between the campaign and Russia.

The report also confirmed Mueller had declined to reach a conclusion on obstruction, though it suggested that decision was heavily influenced by Justice Department legal guidance that says a sitting president can’t be indicted. Mueller’s team wrote that, based on that and other Justice Department policies, they decided “not to apply an approach that could potentially result in a judgment that the President committed crimes.” In other words, they felt that because they could not charge the president, they should make no determination as to whether the president should be charged.

Barr felt no such compunction. He said he and Rosenstein reviewed the evidence themselves and determined it was not sufficient to make a case.

Mueller’s report offered a less charitable version for Trump: describing how, more often than not, Trump’s aides essentially saved their boss from his worst impulses by ignoring his directives to interfere with the Mueller investigation. In perhaps the most stark example, the report alleged that Trump called White House Lawyer Don McGahn in June 2017 and told him to tell the acting attorney general that Mueller had to be removed.

“McGahn did not carry out the direction, however, deciding that he would resign rather than trigger what he regarded as a potential Saturday Night Massacre,” Mueller’s team wrote, referring to the night when President Nixon ordered his attorney general to fire a special prosecutor, triggering a cascade of resignations.

“The evidence we obtained about the President’s actions and intent presents difficult issues that prevent us from conclusively determining that no criminal conduct occurred,” Mueller’s team wrote. “Accordingly, while this report does not conclude the President committed a crime, it also does not exonerate him.”

Mueller’s team wrote that their work was at times stymied by the lies witnesses told and the communications that they deleted or failed to maintain. And they said Trump himself, in resisting a sit-down interview, had provided “inadequate” written answers that stated more than 30 times he did not “‘recall’ or ‘remember’ or have an ‘independent recollection’” of information investigators asked about.

While Mueller’s team could have issued a subpoena to try to force his testimony, they wrote that would have caused a “substantial delay,” and they already had "sufficient evidence to understand relevant events and to make certain assessments.”

The report was astonishing in part because, in a town fueled by leaks, Mueller largely kept his work under wraps. Until its release, Mueller had spoken almost entirely through indictments and other, often cryptic court filings.

In federal court, his team racked up an extraordinary record. His prosecutors charged thirty-four people, including twenty-six Russian nationals. They secured guilty pleas from seven people, including a former national security adviser and the chairman of Trump’s campaign. They reconstructed the day-to-day interactions of Trump’s closest aides and his adult children, exploring dozens of instances of Russian contacts with the Trump campaign. They documented the Russian attack on American democracy in breathtaking detail, even tracing individual keystrokes of Russian military officers in Moscow.

This introduction to the Mueller report is based on nearly three years of interviews by Washington Post reporters with the key figures in the saga at the White House, at the Justice Department, in the intelligence community, in the Trump campaign, in Moscow, and among the lawyers hired to defend those targeted by Mueller.

RUSSIAN FOOTSTEPS

The roots of the Mueller investigation were planted long before Trump was elected.

In the summer and fall of 2016, the FBI watched with alarm as the antisecrecy group WikiLeaks released Democratic Party emails that the bureau believed had been stolen by Russian government hackers. There were signs of foreign targeting of state voting systems. Also underway was a little-understood effort by Russian Internet trolls to influence American voters on social media through false news reports and incendiary political ads.

Meanwhile, Trump surrounded himself with campaign aides who had long-standing financial ties to Moscow. The candidate echoed Kremlin talking points about NATO and the European Union. Rather than condemning the Russian activity or calling on Russian president Vladimir Putin to stop it, he mocked the threat. “Russia, if you’re listening, I hope you’re able to find the thirty thousand emails that are missing,” he said at a news conference in July 2016, referring to emails that Hillary Clinton, his Democratic opponent, had purged from a private server, saying they were personal communications and not related to her work while secretary of state. At that moment, WikiLeaks had just upended the Democratic National Convention by publishing thousands of internal party emails.

Soon after, the US government received a disturbing report from its ally Australia. Officials were told that George Papadopoulos, a young energy consultant chosen to advise Trump on foreign policy, had bragged to an Australian diplomat that he had been told Russia had dirt on Clinton in the form of thousands of emails. Papadopoulos’s boasts had come in May 2016, before the public even knew that the Democratic National Committee had been hacked.

    In late July, the FBI opened “Crossfire Hurricane,” a formal counter-intelligence investigation of Russia’s efforts that was focused in part on Papadopoulos. In October, as WikiLeaks published more stolen Democratic emails, a federal judge approved a secret order allowing the FBI to monitor Carter Page, another former Trump adviser. The bureau told the judge that it suspected Page was a Russian agent. It also was looking at Michael T. Flynn, a retired general who would become Trump’s national security adviser, and Paul Manafort, his campaign chairman.

The investigation was charged from the start. It was highly unusual for the FBI to examine advisers of a leading presidential candidate in the middle of a campaign. Plus, the bureau had to sort out explosive but unverified allegations of Trump-Russia coordination slipped to agents in the summer of 2016 that came to be known as the “Steele Dossier.”

The dossier had been commissioned by Fusion GPS, a Washington opposition research firm, and was funded by the Clinton campaign. It alleged that the Russians held salacious compromising material about Trump and that the Republican candidate had entered into a conspiracy with Russia to win the election. The FBI had worked previously with the dossier’s author, former British intelligence officer Christopher Steele, and believed he was credible, although the document was a political product, commissioned by Trump’s opponents. Trump and his allies would later argue that the FBI’s investigation was tainted from the start by its reliance on Steele’s work.

The inquiry also was marred by the texting between two FBI officials working on the case: agent Peter Strzok and Lisa Page, a bureau lawyer. Unbeknownst to many of their colleagues, the two had been having an extramarital affair and exchanged tens of thousands of text messages sharing their opinions of US political officials and expressing open disdain for Trump. One text from Strzok called the investigation of Trump’s campaign an “insurance policy,” while another declared “we’ll stop” Trump from becoming president. Although the pair would assert that their personal views had no bearing on their work, the texts, when they later became public, gave Trump’s supporters room to argue that the investigation was a set-up from the start. Strzok was later removed from the team and fired from the FBI; Page left the team and the bureau on her own.

If the FBI had wanted to stop Trump, a leak about the investigation might have done the trick. Instead, the bureau kept its work secret. That stood in contrast to the FBI’s handling of its investigation of Clinton’s use of a private email server, which Comey repeatedly addressed publicly in 2016, including in the final days of the campaign.

THE SESSIONS RECUSAL

On November 8, 2016, Trump was elected the nation’s forty-fifth president. But as he prepared to take office, questions about Russia’s role in the campaign only grew.

On December 29, President Barack Obama imposed new sanctions to punish the Kremlin for targeting the race. The next month, the US intelligence community formally concluded that Putin had ordered a covert operation to sow dissent in the American electorate, harm Clinton, and elect Trump.

In February, Flynn, Trump’s newly installed national security adviser, was forced to resign after it was discovered that he had lied to Vice President Mike Pence when he said he had not spoken to a Russian envoy about the Obama sanctions. The next day, Trump pulled Comey aside in the Oval Office and, referring to the FBI’s investigation of Flynn’s activities, asked him to “let this go,” according to Comey’s account.

Shortly after, Attorney General Jeff Sessions announced that he would recuse himself from any investigation of the 2016 campaign.

The recusal came after The Washington Post reported that during the presidential campaign, Sessions, who was then a senator from Alabama, had twice met with Russia’s ambassador to the United States. Sessions had not disclosed the meetings when he was asked at his confirmation hearing about contacts between Russians and the Trump campaign.

“I have been called a surrogate at a time or two in that campaign and I didn’t have—did not have communications with the Russians,” Sessions had said.

At a hastily arranged news conference, Sessions insisted that his recusal was not a reaction to the Post’s reporting, but instead the result of weeks of consultations with Justice Department ethics officials who had advised him to recuse.

When asked earlier in the day whether his attorney general should step aside, the president said, “I don’t think so.”

Sessions told advisers in the months that followed that he had no choice in the matter. The investigation was of Trump’s campaign and its relationship with a foreign power. How could Sessions oversee that without raising questions about whether he had a conflict of interest?

Next, in the swirl of news roiling Washington, came the May 9, 2017, firing of Comey and the entry of Mueller.

Sessions happened to be at the White House for a meeting with Trump and others when word came that Rosenstein, the deputy attorney general, was appointing a special counsel.

Trump was livid. “How could you let this happen, Jeff,” he told Sessions, according to Mueller’s report, amid a lengthy diatribe in the Oval Office.

Sessions left the White House shaken, according to people who spoke with him, and that night handed in a letter of resignation. Advisers convinced the president that he could not fire Sessions so soon after Comey without risking even more political fallout. Trump returned Sessions’s letter with a curt handwritten note saying that he would not allow the attorney general to quit.

The president would never stop seething, however. Until the day Sessions stepped down in November 2018, Trump relentlessly attacked his attorney general and the department he commanded—raising fears that he would end Mueller’s work.

Mueller, after all, was not an independent counsel, and thus not truly independent of Trump. The reason reached back to the 1990s. The lawyers who investigated the Iran-Contra scandal and the Bill Clinton/Monica Lewinsky affair worked under a now-defunct law, commonly known as the independent counsel act, which gave them wide latitude. These independent counsels were picked by a three-judge panel, and they did not answer directly to anyone in the executive branch.

That law was allowed to expire in 1999, after officials who worked under it—including independent counsel Kenneth W. Starr—came to believe it created an unelected, fourth branch of government to enforce the laws against the others. In its place, officials crafted the special counsel regulations, under which Mueller was appointed.

By design, Mueller was selected by the attorney general—or in this instance the acting attorney general, Rosenstein, because Sessions was recused—and subject to that official’s oversight. The special counsel was required to notify the attorney general of significant steps he planned to take, not unlike any of the ninety-three US attorneys nationwide, and the attorney general was allowed to veto his decisions. Trump could have ordered Rosenstein to fire Mueller, although doing so would have caused a cascade of resignations at the Justice Department.

Rosenstein’s decision to turn to an outsider to take over the politically charged investigation plucked the inquiry out of a toxic stew of internal Justice Department politics. Andrew McCabe, Comey’s deputy, had been alarmed when his boss was fired. Wary of the president and Justice Department leaders, he began documenting his interactions with Rosenstein and others, including a meeting where he said Rosenstein had suggested wearing a wire to record the president. After Comey was fired, McCabe immediately authorized the FBI to open an investigation of Trump himself, something the bureau had declined to do for months.

Some at the Justice Department feared that McCabe was acting out of anger about Comey’s removal. At a meeting shortly after Mueller’s appointment, McCabe and Rosenstein each suggested that the other should recuse himself from any involvement with the case. Neither did.

THE G-MAN

At the time of his selection, Mueller was working as a partner at the white-shoe Washington law firm WilmerHale, but he had been employed in the private sector only since 2014. Before that, he had earned a reputation as a prosecutor of extraordinary discipline and intellect over a career in the nation’s highest law enforcement jobs. Mueller, a Republican, had been appointed to top positions by four US presidents, two from each party.

Born into privilege, he graduated from Princeton University, then joined the Marines during the Vietnam War, at a time when many men his age, including Trump, looked to avoid service. Overseas, he led a rifle platoon and earned a Bronze Star Medal and a Purple Heart in combat.

Upon returning home, he enrolled at the University of Virginia Law School and after graduating, became a federal prosecutor in California and then Massachusetts. With only brief stints in private practice, he spent the next thirty years cycling through top jobs at the Justice Department until President George W. Bush appointed him to lead the FBI in July 2001. He was confirmed in August and had been on the job for less than a week when terrorists crashed planes into the World Trade Center and the Pentagon. For the next decade, he led the FBI through a tumultuous reorientation to focus on terrorist threats.

Mueller favored the G-Man’s traditional uniform: business suits with starched white shirts, never colored. At the FBI, he was known for a punishing work ethic, and was often at his desk by 6 a.m. And he was famously press averse, with no tolerance for leaks by underlings.

Mueller quickly assembled a team of some of the most experienced lawyers in the country. He took with him from WilmerHale James Quarles, who had been an assistant special prosecutor on the Watergate Special Prosecution Force, and Aaron Zebley, who had been Mueller’s chief of staff at the FBI. Quarles would come to work as a sort of senior executive in the office, handling many of the interactions with the White House, with Zebley again serving as Mueller’s right-hand man.

As the summer of 2017 progressed, the group grew. Mueller added Andrew Weissmann, a prosecutor who had been involved in the high-profile Enron cases and was well known among defense lawyers as being aggressive; Zainab Ahmad, whose strong record of prosecuting terrorism cases earned her a glowing profile in The New Yorker; and Andrew Goldstein, a public-corruption specialist who had helped bring charges against prominent state officials in New York.

Signaling that he expected his work might generate cases worthy of consideration by the highest courts, Mueller also added several appellate specialists, including Michael Dreeben, who had argued more than a hundred cases before the Supreme Court and was considered one of the country’s foremost experts in criminal law.

Trump, meanwhile, had trouble finding and keeping a lawyer to face down Mueller’s dream team. Many of the nation’s most prominent white-collar defense lawyers declined to represent the president of the United States, some citing conflicts and others privately confiding that they worried about the reputational harm that could come from an affiliation with an unpopular president.

When Mueller was appointed, Trump’s legal team was led by Marc Kasowitz, a combative New York litigator who had defended Trump in business disputes but had little experience with Washington investigations. Trump soon replaced Kasowitz with John Dowd, a Washington fixture who had handled big cases but had a reputation as a bit of a loose cannon and was nearing the end of his career.

To deal with the inevitable crush of special counsel requests to interview White House staff members and review government documents, Trump named to the White House counsel’s office Ty Cobb, who sported a walrus mustache and was a distant relative of the baseball great with whom he shared a name.

Working together, Dowd and Cobb devised a strategy of quiet accommodation to the special counsel. Instead of fighting his every request, they made more than twenty White House staff members available for interviews and turned over twenty thousand pages of official documents. Meanwhile, they made cheery but inaccurate pronouncements about the state of Mueller’s inquiry. Cobb declared at one point that he was confident that the investigation would wrap up by Thanksgiving 2017. When the holiday came and went with no end, Cobb revised his prediction. The inquiry, he said, would be finished by Christmas, then soon after New Year’s Day 2018. It was still underway in May 2018, when Cobb resigned and was replaced at the White House by Emmet T. Flood, a stern tactician who made no public pronouncements about anything at all.

ATTACKING MUELLER

Dowd and Cobb drew the line in their strategy of cooperation at allowing Mueller to interview the president. Trump repeatedly told the public that he would talk to Mueller’s investigators, sparking a long-running will-he-or-won’t-he drama. With his typical braggadocio, Trump believed he could talk his way out of anything Mueller might throw at him and, for a time, seemed open to a sit-down. His lawyers were adamantly opposed to the idea. They did not trust Mueller’s team and feared that their client could not get through an interview session without being accused of perjury.

Disputes over the issue led to Dowd’s resignation in March 2018. He was replaced by former New York mayor and federal prosecutor Rudolph W. Giuliani, who adopted a legal strategy more in keeping with the president’s style. Confident that Mueller would abide by a long-standing Justice Department guideline that the Constitution does not allow for the criminal indictment of a sitting president, he believed Trump could face a political threat from impeachment but no true legal peril. In his view, the best legal defense was a political offense in the form of an unrelenting public campaign to undermine Mueller’s credibility and convince voters that impeachment based on his findings would be unfair and unpalatable.

Giuliani’s strategy had the added benefit of convincing Trump that there was no need to appear cooperative and sit for an interview. This approach suited Trump’s lifelong ethos of responding to any threat by punching back harder. He amplified Giuliani’s attacks, not just on the special counsel, but on the entire justice system.

People who spoke to Trump said that he derided Sessions privately as “Mr. Magoo,” an elderly cartoon character popular in the 1960s and iconic for not acknowledging his poor eyesight, and Rosenstein as “Mr. Peepers,” a bespectacled high school teacher from a 1950s sitcom. After word of the insults leaked, Trump denied using the nicknames. In public, he was nearly as insulting, asserting in September 2018 that “I don’t have an attorney general.” To witnesses involved in the Mueller investigation, Trump sent a clear message: Cooperate with investigators, and you will feel my wrath. Fight back, and you will have my support.

After Michael Cohen, his former lawyer and self-described fixer, pleaded guilty and implicated the president in a scheme to break campaign finance laws, Trump deemed him a “rat” and called for Cohen’s father-in-law to be investigated for unnamed crimes.

In contrast, Trump had nothing but praise for Paul Manafort, his former campaign chairman, whose lawyers quietly assured Trump’s team that he was not providing damaging information about the president, even after he pleaded guilty to crimes including tax fraud and began cooperating with Mueller.

“I feel very badly for Paul Manafort and his wonderful family,” Trump wrote on Twitter. “ ‘Justice’ took a 12 year old tax case, among other things, applied tremendous pressure on him and, unlike Michael Cohen, he refused to ‘break’—make up stories in order to get a ‘deal.’ Such respect for a brave man!”

Legal analysts asserted that Trump might be obstructing justice in real time—using his presidential platform and pardon power to dissuade possible witnesses from cooperating with Mueller.

Trump’s posture as president toward Russia also gave the law enforcement and intelligence communities cause for concern. He took great pains to conceal the details of his conversations with Putin, including at least once taking the notes of his own interpreter and demanding that the details of the discussion not be disclosed, even inside his administration. In a White House meeting in May 2017, he was said to have revealed highly classified information to the Russian foreign minister and ambassador—details so sensitive that they had been kept from close allies.

At a news conference in Helsinki the following year, Trump stood next to his Russian counterpart and seemed to cast doubt on whether Russia had been responsible for the election-related meddling at all—delivering a remarkable rebuke to those in the US intelligence community who had assessed the Kremlin was to blame.

“President Putin was extremely strong and powerful in his denial today,” Trump said.

MUELLER’S FINDINGS

If Trump’s goal was to derail the investigation, however, he failed. Mueller’s team pushed forward, serving 2,800 subpoenas, executing nearly 500 search warrants, and questioning around 500 people. Witnesses who sat for those interviews said afterward that they were surprised by the prosecutors’ careful, detailed work.

“The Mueller team knew more about what I did in 2016 than I knew myself,” former Trump aide Michael Caputo said on CNN after emerging from his interview. “I think they know more about the Trump campaign than anyone who ever worked there.”

Mueller’s investigation accelerated in July 2017, after it emerged that Donald J. Trump Jr., the president’s son, had attended a meeting at Trump Tower in New York during the campaign with a Russian lawyer who he was told would provide damaging information about Clinton. “If it’s what you say, I love it,” Trump Jr. had written in an email at the time.

Everyone who attended the meeting—including Manafort and Trump’s son-in-law, Jared Kushner—said that it was a bust and that no dirt was provided. But the episode seemed to confirm that the Trump campaign was willing to accept Russian government help when offered. When Donald Trump Jr. was first asked about the meeting a year later, the president dictated a statement for his son that was misleading and incomplete. The meeting, it said, had been “primarily” about adoption.

Mueller’s team toiled for long stretches in silence, emerging periodically to file bombshell indictments.

Two of the indictments appeared designed to explain to the American people exactly what the Russians did during the campaign. In February 2018, Mueller’s team indicted thirteen Russian nationals and three Russian companies, alleging that they had engaged in a complex two-year scheme to interfere in US politics by posing as Americans and planting false news stories and divisive ads on social media. Working from a small office building in St. Petersburg, these trolls allegedly duped real Americans with whom they interacted online, amplifying tense debates about race, gun control, and sexual identity, pushing pro-Trump messages and even getting some Americans to organize and attend rallies they orchestrated. Yevgeniy Viktorovich Prigozhin, who the Russian news media has identified as the financial backer of the group, told Russia’s state news agency of the indictment, “The Americans are very impressionable people, and they see what they want to see,” adding, “I am not at all disappointed that I appear in this list. If they want to see the devil—let them.” Then, in July 2018, Mueller’s team indicted twelve Russian military intelligence officers, alleging that they hacked into the email accounts of the Democratic Party and Clinton campaign officials and posed online as an entity called Guccifer 2.0 to publish the material, including by passing it to WikiLeaks and others. The Russian Foreign Ministry rejected the indictment’s allegations as lacking evidence and described the charges as a clear effort to derail an upcoming Trump-Putin summit in Helsinki. “It is unfortunate that distributing false information has become the norm in Washington, and that criminal cases are being initiated based on clearly political motives,” the ministry said.

Among Trump’s friends and aides, six men pleaded guilty or were indicted. Mostly, they were charged with lying to Congress and the FBI about a wide range of issues. None were accused of criminally coordinating with the Russians. But over and over again, they were accused of lying about efforts to develop inroads with Russia and leverage that country’s hacking of Democratic emails.

Roger Stone, a Republican operative and longtime Trump friend, was charged in January 2019 with lying to Congress about his efforts to seek information from WikiLeaks as it was publishing hacked emails. He pleaded not guilty and vowed to beat the charges in court.

Cohen pleaded guilty to lying to Congress about efforts to build a Trump Tower in Moscow, including a phone call he had with an assistant to a top Putin aide.

Flynn admitted that he lied to the FBI about his contacts with the Russian ambassador during the presidential transition.

Papadopoulos said that he, too, had lied, hiding key details about his interaction with a London professor who had given him early warning about Russian hacking.

Manafort was convicted by a jury in Virginia in August 2018 of bank and tax fraud related to his handling of more than $60 million he earned consulting for Russia-friendly politicians in Ukraine before he joined the Trump campaign. He subsequently pleaded guilty to charges including not registering as a foreign agent for his Ukraine work.

Mueller’s prosecutors later told a judge that Manafort continued to lie even after his plea. Notably, they said many of his lies were about his interactions with a Russian employee whom the FBI found to have ties to Russian intelligence. That employee has denied any such connection.

The release of Mueller’s report thrust the case into the political arena, arming Democratic lawmakers with an array of new information to support their attacks on Trump and open possible new areas of inquiry for their own investigations.

Trump and his allies, in contrast, reacted with glee. “NO COLLUSION—NO OBSTRUCTION,” the president tweeted, reprising a phrase he used throughout the investigation. Trump’s supporters called for an investigation into the investigators, noting Mueller’s report included no information about what had been learned about the Steele Dossier’s salacious allegations or their role in initially launching the probe. Carter Page, who had been subject to nearly a year’s worth of secret government monitoring, was never charged with any crime. The report said investigators did not establish that Page conspired with the Russian government.

Democrats noted Mueller’s team wrote that they had not been able to solve every mystery they explored. Some witnesses lied. Others interacted using encrypted applications that left no record of their contemporaneous communications. According to the report, prosecutors were unable to figure out everything Page had done while visiting Moscow during the campaign. They also failed to determine what Paul Manafort’s Russian employee did with internal Trump campaign polling data after Manafort slipped it to him during the campaign.

As Democrats sought to digest Mueller’s voluminous findings, they also turned their fire on Barr, who many felt served as a shield for Trump by holding a press conference to summarize Mueller’s findings in a way that was favorable for the president.

Barr also had announced the conclusion of the probe weeks before the report’s release and revealed Mueller’s top line findings: that the special counsel could not prove coordination, and he would not reach a conclusion on obstruction. Though it would not be known for some time, Mueller privately complained to Barr about that characterization in a letter, asserting that the attorney general “did not fully capture the context, nature, and substance of this Office’s work and conclusions.” The missive was remarkable in its own right, and even more so because of the man who signed it. Mueller, rigid in his adherence to the bureaucratic chain of command, had rebuked his boss in writing, increasing the likelihood the disagreement would ultimately become public.

Democrats, too, felt Barr had set a pro-Trump narrative that was hard to shake—even if the report itself offered them a wealth of detail on Trump’s actions that they could pursue in hearings. Some Democrats immediately said the report provided evidence the president had committed a crime.  “Even in its incomplete form,” Rep. Jerry Nadler (D-N.Y.), the chair of the House Judiciary Committee said in a statement, “the Mueller report outlines disturbing evidence that President Trump engaged in obstruction of justice and other misconduct.”

Nadler vowed to press on with investigations of Trump as Republicans called for them to end.

“Democrats who have been running around for the last two years making outlandish claims about the President and his family ought to apologize to the American people for misleading them and the press about this smear campaign,” said Rep. Steve Scalise (R-La.), the Republican whip. “This report…delivered a death blow to their baseless conspiracy theories.”

    On May 29, Mueller spoke to the American people for the first—and last—time as special counsel. Delivering a statement less than ten minutes long and taking no questions, Mueller declared that his office was closing and he was resigning from the Department of Justice and returning to private life.

    He offered only a brief summary of his team’s two years of work. Russia, he said, had engaged in “multiple, systematic” efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election, an attack that he said deserved the attention of every American.

    He carefully explained that his team had felt bound by Justice Department policies that forbid the indictment of a sitting president and that further “principles of fairness” counseled that they should draw no conclusion as to whether the president might have committed a crime if they could not indict him. But he added that “if we had had confidence that the president clearly did not commit a crime, we would have said so.”

    Almost immediately after Mueller stepped away from the podium, Trump tweeted triumphantly, “The case is closed!” Several Democratic presidential candidates, however, called for the start of impeachment proceedings. They seized on Mueller’s assertion that the Constitution “requires a process other than the criminal justice system to formally accuse a sitting president of wrongdoing.”

    Mueller’s investigation may have concluded but Washington’s political wars were as hot as ever.


List of Individuals, Arranged by Organizational Affiliation



THE SPECIAL COUNSEL’S OFFICE

Zainab Ahmad: Previously at the US Attorney’s Office in Brooklyn, Zainab Ahmad was well-known as a terrorism prosecutor.

Greg Andres: Joining Robert S. Mueller III’s team from the Davis Polk law firm, Greg Andres had previously worked as a Justice Department official and as chief of the criminal division at the US Attorney’s Office in Brooklyn. He led the team that brought former Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort to trial in federal court in Virginia.

Rush Atkinson: Previously at the Justice Department’s fraud section, Rush Atkinson worked on economic crime cases.

Ryan Dickey: A veteran cyber prosecutor in the Justice Department’s computer-crime and intellectual-property section, Ryan Dickey was brought onto Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller III’s team late in 2017. At that time, he was the only attorney in the group known to specialize in cyber issues.

Michael Dreeben: Considered one of the Justice Department’s foremost experts on criminal law, Michael Dreeben has argued more than a hundred cases before the Supreme Court. His early inclusion in the special counsel’s office signaled that Robert S. Mueller III predicted from the start that his work might generate tough cases that would make their way through the highest levels of the US court system.

Kyle Freeny: Detailed from the Justice Department’s criminal division, Kyle Freeny was considered an expert in money-laundering cases.

Andrew Goldstein: Previously at the US Attorney’s Office in Manhattan, Andrew Goldstein was head of the public-corruption unit.

Adam Jed: Detailed from the Justice Department’s Civil Division, Adam Jed worked on appeals cases.

Scott Meisler: Previously at the Justice Department’s Criminal Division, Scott Meisler worked as an appellate lawyer.

Robert S. Mueller III: A Vietnam veteran, former Justice Department official, and former FBI director, Robert S. Mueller III was tapped in May 2017 to lead the investigation into whether the Trump campaign coordinated with the Kremlin to influence the 2016 election. Mueller also explored whether Trump obstructed justice. Amid one of the highest-profile cases in history, Mueller kept an astoundingly low profile, never holding any press conferences and barely providing any public statements beyond what his team said in court.

Elizabeth Prelogar: A former Supreme Court clerk detailed from the Solicitor General’s Office, Elizabeth Prelogar specialized in appellate cases.

James Quarles: A former assistant special prosecutor for the Watergate Special Prosecution Force, James Quarles left the white-shoe law firm WilmerHale with Robert S. Mueller III to join the special counsel’s office. He was one of Mueller’s top deputies and often interacted with White House lawyers.

Jeannie Rhee: A former partner at the law firm WilmerHale, Jeannie Rhee, like Robert S. Mueller III and others, left the firm to join the special counsel’s office. She had previously worked as a federal prosecutor in Washington and as a Justice Department official.

Brian M. Richardson: A former Supreme Court clerk and clerk for a judge serving on the US Court of Appeals in New York City, Brian M. Richardson was a relatively junior member of Mueller’s team who worked on a variety of cases. He left the team and became a fellow at Columbia Law School.

Brandon Van Grack: A Justice Department lawyer, Brandon Van Grack had worked on Russia-related matters that preceded the creation of the special counsel’s office. He was part of the team that brought former Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort to trial and was also involved in the investigation into former Trump national security adviser Michael T. Flynn.

Andrew Weissmann: A lawyer who headed the Justice Department’s fraud section and a key player in the high-profile Enron prosecutions, Andrew Weissmann was considered one of Robert S. Mueller III’s top deputies and was deeply involved in the investigation of former Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort.

Aaron Zebley: A former federal prosecutor and Robert S. Mueller III’s chief of staff at the FBI, Aaron Zebley left the law firm of WilmerHale with his former boss to join the special counsel’s office. He was considered one of Mueller’s closest advisers.

Aaron Zelinsky: Detailed from the US Attorney’s Office in Maryland, Aaron Zelinsky had worked with Rod J. Rosenstein, who had served as US attorney there before being named deputy attorney general.

THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Uzo Asonye: An assistant US attorney in the Eastern District of Virginia, Uzo Asonye was part of the team that put former Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort on trial there.

William P. Barr:President Trump’s pick to succeed Jeff Sessions as attorney general, William Barr would come to supervise the special counsel probe as it approached its conclusion. Barr was friends with Robert S. Mueller III, both having worked together previously in the Justice Department. But before coming back into government, Barr had raised questions about Mueller’s case and his team—even sending a memo to Justice Department leaders criticizing what he viewed as the special counsel’s “fatally misconceived” theory of how the president might have obstructed justice.

Ed O’Callaghan: A top official in the deputy attorney general’s office, Ed O’Callaghan was one of only a few Justice Department leaders to receive regular briefings on Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller III’s closely held investigation.

Rod J. Rosenstein: The No. 2 official at the Justice Department, Rod J. Rosenstein appointed Robert S. Mueller III to lead the special counsel investigation and supervised him. Rosenstein was a complicated figure. A Trump appointee, he authored a memo laying the groundwork for James B. Comey to be fired, but he soon came to be a focus of the president’s anger, and liberals came to view him as a protector of Mueller’s work.

Jeff Sessions: The first US senator to endorse Trump for president and Trump’s handpicked nominee to lead the Justice Department, Jeff Sessions was a key player for what he did not do in the Russia probe. After The Washington Post reported that Sessions had contacts with Russia’s ambassador to the United States during the presidential campaign, contradicting what Sessions had told lawmakers during his confirmation hearing, Sessions recused himself from the investigation. That decision, which incensed Trump, ultimately led to Rod J. Rosenstein being put in charge of the probe.

THE FBI

James B. Comey: A veteran lawyer who was named FBI director by President Obama in 2013, James B. Comey was the face of the Russia probe until he was fired by President Trump from his ten-year position in May 2017. Comey’s firing—and public disclosures about his interactions with President Trump—helped initiate the special counsel investigation, which took over cases the FBI had opened months earlier examining possible coordination between the Kremlin and the Trump campaign.

Andrew McCabe: The No. 2 official in the FBI under James B. Comey, Andrew McCabe became a frequent target of criticism from President Trump, especially after McCabe took command of the FBI in the wake of Comey’s firing. McCabe, who was ultimately fired from the bureau amid allegations that he lied to investigators exploring a media disclosure, was in charge of the FBI when it opened a case into whether Trump had obstructed justice.

Lisa Page: An FBI lawyer and adviser to FBI deputy director Andrew McCabe, Lisa Page worked briefly on the special counsel team. She left after just months on the job, and it was later revealed that she had exchanged anti-Trump texts with Peter Strzok, an FBI agent and fellow member of the special counsel investigation with whom Page had an affair.

Peter Strzok: A veteran FBI counterintelligence agent, Peter Strzok was a key leader on the Russia investigation before Robert S. Mueller III was appointed special counsel, and Strzok was briefly the lead FBI agent on Mueller’s team. Strzok was removed from the investigation and ultimately fired from the FBI after it was learned he had exchanged anti-Trump text messages with FBI lawyer Lisa Page.

THE DONALD TRUMP CAMPAIGN

Rick Gates: Deputy campaign manager for Donald Trump, Rick Gates was a longtime associate of Paul Manafort’s and worked with Manafort in Ukraine prior to joining the Trump campaign. Gates pleaded guilty in February 2018 to conspiring against the United States, agreeing that he evaded taxes, helped Manafort commit bank fraud, and failed to register as a foreign lobbyist for his Ukraine work.

Paul Manafort: A longtime Republican political consultant, Paul Manafort joined the Trump campaign in March 2016 and served as its chairman from June to August. Prior to joining the campaign, Manafort had spent nearly a decade as a political consultant in Ukraine and doing business deals with Russian billionaire Oleg Deripaska. Manafort was convicted by a Virginia jury in August 2018 of eight counts of bank and tax fraud. A month later, he pleaded guilty to additional charges, including having failed to register as a foreign lobbyist while working for pro-Russian Ukrainian president Viktor Yanukovych.

Carter Page: An energy consultant with experience working in Moscow, Carter Page was named a national security adviser to Donald Trump’s campaign in March 2016. In July, he traveled to Moscow, where he delivered a speech critical of US foreign policy and greeted a top Russian official. The FBI received secret permission to conduct surveillance of Page starting in October 2016, after convincing a federal judge that evidence suggested he might be a foreign agent.

George Papadopoulos: An energy consultant, George Papadopoulos was named a national security adviser to Donald Trump’s campaign in March 2016. Papadopoulos said in his plea that he was told by a London-based professor that month that the Russians held damaging information about Democrat Hillary Clinton in the form of thousands of emails. Papadopoulos then spent months unsuccessfully trying to arrange meetings between Trump or his campaign aides with top Russian officials, according to court documents and campaign emails read to The Washington Post. Papadopoulos pleaded guilty in October 2017 to lying to the FBI about his Russia contacts and served fourteen days in prison.

Roger Stone: A longtime Republican campaign operative who has been friends with Donald Trump for thirty years, Roger Stone briefly worked for Trump’s campaign in 2015 and then served as an informal adviser in 2016. Known for reveling in provocative political tricks, Stone cheered on WikiLeaks as it published emails stolen from the Democratic National Committee and Hillary Clinton campaign chairman John Podesta. Stone also claimed before the election that he had advance knowledge of WikiLeaks’ plans. Later, he insisted he had no contact with WikiLeaks nor exact knowledge of the group’s plans. He was charged in January 2019 with false statements, witness tampering, and obstruction for trying to hide from Congress his efforts to learn about WikiLeaks’ releases of hacked Democratic Party emails. He vowed to fight the charges.

THE TRUMP ORGANIZATION

Michael Cohen: A lawyer who served as executive vice president of the Trump Organization starting in 2007, Michael Cohen pleaded guilty in December 2018 to lying to Congress about the extent of efforts to build a Trump Tower in Moscow during the presidential campaign. Cohen also pleaded guilty to bank and tax fraud related to his personal finances and said that Donald Trump, identified in court documents as “Individual 1,” instructed him to direct illegal payments to silence two women who said they had affairs with Trump.

Donald J. Trump Jr.: The eldest son of President Trump, Donald J. Trump Jr. is an executive at the real estate company founded by his father and served as an informal adviser to his campaign. In June 2016, Trump Jr. met with a Russian lawyer who, Trump Jr. was told, would share damaging information about Democratic candidate Hillary Clinton. “If it’s what you say, I love it,” Trump Jr. wrote in an email.

THE WHITE HOUSE

Steve Bannon: The White House’s former chief strategist until August 2017, Steve Bannon was a witness in the Mueller probe, about which he expressed mixed views. After he was ousted as a formal adviser to President Trump, Bannon publicly pitched a plan that Trump cripple the Russia probe by firing Deputy Attorney General Rod J. Rosenstein, who oversaw it. Later, though, when news of his being interviewed by the special counsel became public, Bannon called Mueller’s team “very professional and courteous.”

Michael T. Flynn: A retired army lieutenant general, Michael T. Flynn briefly served as Donald Trump’s first national security adviser before resigning in February 2017 after lying to the public and Vice President Mike Pence about his contacts with the Russian ambassador during the presidential transition. He pleaded guilty in December 2017 to lying to the FBI about those contacts as well and cooperated extensively with the special counsel’s probe.

Jared Kushner: The husband of President Trump’s daughter Ivanka, Jared Kushner drew the attention of investigators for meetings he had with a Russian banker and diplomat between the time when his father-in-law was elected and was sworn into office. When former Trump national security adviser Michael T. Flynn admitted lying about his own dealings with a Russian diplomat, Flynn said the interactions were done in consultation with senior Trump transition officials, including Kushner. In particular, Kushner directed Flynn to talk with the Russian ambassador about a UN resolution on Israel, people familiar with the investigation have told The Washington Post. Kushner has not publicly addressed the episode detailed in Flynn’s plea.

K. T. McFarland: A deputy to former national security adviser Michael T. Flynn, K. T. McFarland was a key player in Flynn’s fraught interactions with Sergey Kislyak, Russia’s ambassador to the United States. Flynn admitted as part of a plea agreement that he spoke with McFarland at Trump’s Mar-a-Lago resort before talking to the diplomat so they could “discuss what, if anything, to communicate to the Russian ambassador about the US sanctions.” Flynn told FBI agents he did not discuss sanctions with the ambassador, though he would later admit that was a lie. McFarland was nominated to be the US ambassador to Singapore, though the nomination was later withdrawn amid the legal controversy surrounding her and Flynn.

Don McGahn: Don McGahn was the White House counsel from the start of Trump’s administration until October 2018, giving him a front-row seat to some of President Trump’s most problematic interactions with officials at his own Justice Department and to the turmoil induced by the special counsel’s work. McGahn, who had also served as legal adviser to Trump’s campaign, cooperated extensively with the special counsel investigation and frequently played the role of peacemaker when Trump bristled about the probe.

Mike Pence: The vice president of the United States, Mike Pence largely stayed away from the Russia probe, though he could not avoid it entirely. When Pence said on television in January 2017 that national security adviser Michael T. Flynn had not talked about sanctions with the Russian ambassador, that prompted alarm among federal law enforcement officials, who suspected Flynn might have lied to the vice president. Flynn would later admit that he did so.

Reince Priebus: The president’s first chief of staff, Reince Priebus was a witness in the Mueller probe and shared valuable insights into Trump’s position on the Justice Department and the special counsel investigation. Priebus talked with FBI director James B. Comey in the harried early days of the Trump administration and notably asked Comey whether the bureau had a secret warrant to surveil national security adviser Michael T. Flynn. Priebus, who served until July 2017, was also involved in confronting Flynn after it had become clear he had lied about his interactions with the Russian ambassador.

Donald J. Trump: The forty-fifth president of the United States, Donald J. Trump was a celebrity business mogul who defeated Democrat Hillary Clinton in 2016. In March 2017, the FBI announced that it was investigating Russian interference in the election and whether anyone associated with the Trump campaign coordinated with those efforts. Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller III took over the investigation in May 2017 with a mandate that included exploring whether Trump as president had attempted to obstruct the probe.

THE TRUMP LEGAL DEFENSE

Ty Cobb: A former partner at the law firm Hogan Lovells, Ty Cobb joined the White House in July 2017 to serve as the administration’s point person in coordinating requests by the special counsel to interview White House staff or review official documents. Cobb advised the White House to cooperate with the effort and publicly offered inaccurate predictions that the investigation would soon be over. He resigned in May 2018.

John Dowd: A former marine and veteran white-collar-criminal defense attorney, John Dowd served as Donald Trump’s lead personal attorney in the Mueller matter from June 2017 to March 2018. Dowd advised that Trump’s White House and campaign should cooperate with the investigation, but Trump should avoid sitting for an interview, despite publicly promising to do so, The Washington Post has reported. Dowd quit after clashing with Trump over the issue.

Emmet T. Flood: A former partner at the Washington law firm Williams & Connolly, Emmet Flood was hired to serve in the White House counsel’s office in May 2018, where he replaced Ty Cobb as the administration’s point person in handling the Mueller probe. Flood steered clear of public attention but advised the White House to limit cooperation with the probe and researched ways to assert executive privilege to potentially prevent Mueller’s report from being shared with Congress, The Washington Post has reported.

Rudolph W. Giuliani: The former mayor of New York City, Rudolph W. Giuliani was hired by President Trump to lead his personal legal team in April 2018. Giuliani waged an unrelenting public war on Mueller, seeming to believe that undermining public confidence in the investigation was the best way to make impeachment unpalatable to the American people.

Marc Kasowitz: A New York litigator who had helped Donald Trump handle business disputes, Marc Kasowitz served as President Trump’s personal attorney during the investigation’s earliest phases. He was minimized in his role in favor of John Dowd, who had far more Washington experience, after Robert S. Mueller III was appointed and the investigation picked up steam.

Jane and Marty Raskin: A husband-and-wife team who jointly ran a small Florida law firm and were hired to assist President Trump’s legal efforts after John Dowd quit and Trump struggled to find someone else to take his case. While Rudolph W. Giuliani dominated airwaves and Trump’s public message, the Raskins, particularly Jane, were credited with quietly devising his legal strategy.

Jay Sekulow: A conservative lawyer and activist with more experience dealing with religious-liberty and free-speech cases than criminal matters, Jay Sekulow was hired to serve as the public face of President Trump’s personal legal team in the summer of 2017. His role expanded over time, as other lawyers came and went and he became the team’s longest-serving member.

THE RUSSIANS

Aras Agalarov: An Azerbaijan-born billionaire and real estate developer based in Moscow, Aras Agalarov met Donald Trump in 2013, when Agalarov paid to sponsor the Miss Universe pageant in Moscow. Emails released by Donald Trump Jr. show that Agalarov asked his pop star son to get a meeting with members of the Trump campaign for Russian lawyer Natalia Veselnitskaya in June 2016.

Emin Agalarov: A Moscow-based pop star who also works in real estate alongside his father, billionaire Aras Agalarov. Emin Agalarov was involved with bringing Donald Trump’s beauty pageant to Moscow in 2013, then Emin asked his publicist, Rob Goldstone, to get a meeting with the Trump campaign for lawyer Natalia Veselnitskaya in June 2016.

Maria Butina: A Russian gun-rights activist, Maria Butina pleaded guilty in December 2018 to conspiring to act as an unregistered agent of Russia for cozying up to American conservatives, notably leaders of the National Rifle Association. She asked Donald Trump a question about Russia at a public forum in 2015 and met Donald Trump Jr. at an NRA meeting in May 2016.

Oleg Deripaska: A Russian billionaire who is close to Russian president Vladimir Putin and has struggled to get visas to travel to the United States because of alleged ties to Russian organized crime, Oleg Deripaska employed Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort as an investment consultant for years. At the time Manafort joined the Trump campaign in March 2016, Manafort owed Deripaska money and, through an aide, offered to give Deripaska “private briefings” about the campaign. Manafort and Deripaska have said the briefings never happened.

Kirill Dmitriev: The chief executive of the Russian sovereign wealth fund, the Russian Direct Investment Fund, Kirill Dmitriev met in the Seychelles in January 2017 with Erik Prince, a businessman and ally of Donald Trump’s.

Sergey Gorkov: The chairman of the Russian state-owned Vnesheconombank, better known as VEB, Sergey Gorkov met during the presidential transition with Jared Kushner, Donald Trump’s son-in-law. The White House and the bank offered conflicting descriptions of the meeting, with the bank saying it was to discuss business strategy and the White House insisting it was unrelated to business, but instead was one of many diplomatic encounters Kushner had before Trump was sworn in as president.

Konstantin Kilimnik: A Russian army veteran who was hired by Paul Manafort to serve as his translator and manager of his political consulting business in Kiev. Konstantin Kilimnik served as Manafort’s liaison to top Ukrainian and Russian politicians and businessmen, including Oleg Deripaska, according to people familiar with the business arrangement. A Deripaska spokesman denies he ever interacted with Kilimnik. The FBI has assessed that Kilimnik had ties to Russian intelligence, and he was charged in 2018 with obstruction of justice. He was in contact with Manafort during his time with the Trump campaign, and Manafort was accused of passing Trump polling data to him. Kilimnik has denied having ties to Russian intelligence. As of April 2019, he was in Russia and had not addressed the obstruction charge, though court documents show that Manafort told prosecutors that Kilimnik didn’t think he had suborned perjury and thought it was “crazy” that he was indicted.

Sergey Kislyak: The Russian ambassador to the United States from 2008 to 2017, Sergey Kislyak sat in the front row during a Donald Trump foreign policy speech in April 2016 and then interacted with several members of Trump’s campaign, including Senator Jeff Sessions, in the months before the election. In December 2016, as Trump prepared to take office, Trump’s incoming national security adviser, Michael T. Flynn, called Kislyak and asked that the Russians not respond to new sanctions imposed by President Barack Obama as a response to Russian election interference.

Viktor Netyksho: Viktor Netyksho is the Russian military intelligence officer US officials alleged in court documents was in command of Unit 26165, which is accused of hacking the Democratic National Committee, the Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee, and members of Hillary Clinton’s campaign. The special counsel’s office charged Netyksho, along with eleven other Russian nationals, in July 2018 with executing a hacking conspiracy to influence the 2016 election. Netyksho, who, as of April 2019, was in Russia and not expected to face the charges in a US courtroom, has not responded to the indictment.

Dmitry Peskov: Press secretary to Russian president Vladimir Putin, Dmitry Peskov is considered one of Putin’s closest advisers. In January 2016, Trump lawyer Michael Cohen emailed Peskov to ask for his help advancing plans to build a Trump Tower in Moscow. Cohen later lied to Congress and said he received no response. In fact, a Peskov assistant responded and the two spoke by phone about the proposed project, according to Cohen’s plea agreement.

Yevgeniy Prigozhin: A Russian businessman known as “Putin’s chef” because he owned a catering business favored by the Russian president, Yevgeniy Prigozhin was accused by the special counsel’s office of funding the St. Petersburg troll farm called the Internet Research Agency and its elaborate social media campaign to influence Americans prior to the 2016 election. He was charged in February 2018 along with twelve other Russian nationals with conspiring to defraud the United States for the social media plot. After his indictment, Prigozhin told a Russian state news agency that he was not upset to be charged. “Americans see what they want to see,” he said.

Vladimir Putin: The president of Russia, a position he has held since 2012 and previously from 2000 to 2008. The US intelligence agencies announced in January 2017 that they had assessed that Vladimir Putin had personally ordered a multipronged operation during the 2016 presidential campaign intended to divide Americans, hurt the electoral prospects of Democrat Hillary Clinton, and elect Donald Trump.

Ivan Timofeev: Director of programs at the Moscow-based think tank the Russian International Affairs Council, Ivan Timofeev communicated with Trump campaign adviser George Papadopoulos in the spring of 2016 about arranging a meeting between Donald Trump and Vladimir Putin. Timofeev was referred to in Papadopoulos’s plea deal as a “Russian national connected to the Russian Ministry of Foreign Affairs.” Timofeev has not addressed that description but has said his think tank’s interactions with Papadopoulos were routine academic outreach.

Alexander Torshin: A former Russian senator and deputy governor of the Russian central bank, Alexander Torshin is a lifetime member of the National Rifle Association and interacted with American conservatives, as did his assistant Maria Butina. In May 2016, a Republican operative asked Donald Trump’s campaign to have the candidate meet with Torshin at an NRA meeting, referring to the banker as “Putin’s emissary.” The meeting did not take place, but Torshin has said he met Trump’s son Donald Trump Jr.

Natalia Veselnitskaya: A Russian lawyer, Natalia Veselnitskaya has lobbied against the Magnitsky Act, a law passed in 2012 that imposed sanctions against top Russians for human rights abuses. The law has particularly vexed Vladimir Putin, and in retaliation for its passage Russia halted the adoption of Russian children by US families. Donald Trump Jr. agreed to meet with Veselnitskaya in June 2016 after being told she would provide damaging information about Hillary Clinton. Veselnitskaya was indicted in 2019 for obstruction of justice in connection with her work in an unrelated civil case. She denied the charges, telling Yahoo News that she would use “all methods” to defend herself from Russia but would not come to the United States to fight the charges in court.

OTHER RELEVANT INDIVIDUALS

Julian Assange: The founder of the antisecrecy organization known as WikiLeaks, which published hacked emails from the Democratic National Committee and Hillary Clinton’s campaign, Julian Assange and his group were of great interest to special counsel investigators. Prosecutors mistakenly revealed in a court filing in late 2018 that Assange had been charged under seal, though it is unclear whether the charges relate to the special counsel investigation or the publication of other classified material. Assange was granted asylum by Ecuador and lived in the country’s embassy in London for years. On April 11, 2019, Ecuador rescinded Assange’s asylum and he was expelled from the embassy and arrested by British police on a US hacking charge. The legal battle over his extradition to the United States will likely take years.

John O. Brennan: The director of the CIA from March 2013 to January 2017, John Brennan’s agency made critical assessments on the motive of the Russian election-influence operation, including that one of its goals was to help Donald Trump get elected president. Brennan was among the intelligence-community leaders to brief Trump on the Russian plot in January 2017. Since leaving government, Brennan has become a television commentator and is frequently critical of Trump.

James Clapper: The director of national intelligence from August 2010 to January 2017, James Clapper led intelligence-community efforts to determine the extent of Russian intervention during the 2016 US presidential election campaign. He was among the officials who briefed Donald Trump in January 2017 on the intelligence-community assessment of Russia’s actions. In a book published after he left office, Clapper wrote that he had “no doubt” that Russia swung the election to Trump.

Jerome Corsi: A conservative writer and conspiracy theorist who helped popularize the false accusation that President Barack Obama was not born in the United States, Jerome Corsi corresponded with Trump associate Roger Stone about WikiLeaks before the election. Corsi announced in November 2018 that he had rejected a plea deal proposed by the special counsel’s office in which he would have agreed he lied to investigators about some of his Stone contacts. Stone was charged in January 2019 with lying to Congress and witness tampering related to his dealings with Corsi over WikiLeaks. He vowed to fight the charges.

Randy Credico: A New York comedian and radio host, Randy Credico befriended Trump associate Roger Stone before the 2016 election. Stone told Congress that when he announced before the election that he had a back channel to WikiLeaks’ founder Julian Assange, he was referencing Credico, who had interviewed Assange on his radio show. Credico denied serving as a back channel for Stone to Assange. Stone was charged in January 2019 with lying to Congress and witness tampering related to his dealings with Credico over WikiLeaks. He vowed to fight the charges.

Rob Goldstone: A British music promoter, Rob Goldstone had met Donald Trump when his Russian pop star client Emin Agalarov had helped bring Trump’s Miss Universe pageant to Moscow in 2013. At Agalarov’s request, Goldstone emailed Trump’s son Donald Trump Jr. and asked if he would meet with a Russian lawyer who, Goldstone said, had information to share about Democrat Hillary Clinton. Goldstone attended the June 2016 meeting, along with Russian lawyer Natalia Veselnitskaya.

Joseph Mifsud: A Maltese academic who worked at the London Centre of International Law Practice, where Trump adviser George Papadopoulos was also employed when he was named to the campaign. Prosecutors said that Joseph Mifsud befriended Papadopoulos after he joined the campaign, introducing him to a Russian woman who said she was a niece of the Russian president and a Russian think tank director with ties to the Kremlin. According to Papadopoulos’s plea, a London-based professor—later reported to be Mifsud—told the Trump adviser in April 2016 that the Russians held dirt about Democrat Hillary Clinton in the form of thousands of emails, a revelation that would later help spark the investigation into the Trump campaign and Russia. Mifsud has told The Washington Post he had no ties to Russia outside of academia and no contact with the Russian government. After Papadopoulos’s plea, Mifsud denied wrongdoing and said he had had no knowledge of Clinton emails held by Russia. “I have a clear conscience,” he told the Telegraph.

George Nader: A Lebanese American businessman who has acted as an adviser to the United Arab Emirates, George Nader cooperated with the special counsel’s investigation as investigators sought to determine the purpose of a secret meeting in the Seychelles between Erik Prince and Kirill Dmitriev, the head of a Russian government-controlled wealth fund. Investigators gathered evidence that the meeting, which was brokered by Nader, was part of an effort to establish a back channel of communication between the Trump administration and the Kremlin, which Prince has denied. Nader’s lawyer has declined to address the matter publicly. Nader has a checkered past, having been convicted years ago of transporting child pornography.

W. Samuel Patten: A Republican political consultant who pleaded guilty in August 2018 to failing to register as a foreign lobbyist while working for a Ukrainian political party from 2014 to 2018. He also acknowledged in his plea that he worked with a foreigner, who The Washington Post has identified as Paul Manafort’s longtime aide Konstantin Kilimnik, to route an illegal foreign donation from a Ukrainian politician to Donald Trump’s inaugural committee.

Richard Pinedo: A California man who pleaded guilty in October 2018 to identity theft for a scheme in which he sold bank account numbers online. Prosecutors said Russian nationals used the numbers to open PayPal accounts and fund a social media campaign to influence the American electorate.

Erik Prince: The founder of the now disbanded private security company Blackwater, Erik Prince participated in a secret meeting in the Seychelles just before Trump’s inauguration with a Russian official close to Russian president Vladimir Putin. Investigators have explored whether the gathering was part of an effort to establish a back channel between the Kremlin and the incoming administration, though Prince has said it was an unplanned encounter when he was at a luxury hotel in the Indian Ocean island nation with officials from the United Arab Emirates.

Felix Sater: A New York real estate developer who emigrated from Russia as a child, Felix Sater was a former business associate of Donald Trump’s. Sater worked during the presidential campaign with Trump lawyer Michael Cohen to try to build a Trump Tower in Moscow. As an executive at the Bayrock Group, Sater had licensed Trump’s name to build towers around the world. In emails, Sater told Cohen that the ultimately unsuccessful building project could boost Trump’s electoral chances and improve his relationship with Russian president Vladimir Putin.

Christopher Steele: A former officer with the British intelligence service MI6, Christopher Steele was hired by the private US political-intelligence firm Fusion GPS to research Donald Trump’s ties to Russia. From June to December 2016, he submitted a series of reports that came to be known collectively as the “Steele Dossier,” which alleged the Russians held compromising information about Trump and that Trump’s campaign was conspiring with a Russian government effort to win him the election. The research, which was rejected by Trump, was funded by the Democratic National Committee and Hillary Clinton’s campaign.

Alex van der Zwaan: A Dutch lawyer based in London, Alex van der Zwaan pleaded guilty in February 2018 to lying to the FBI about his work for the law firm Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom, where he helped produce a report regarding the jailing of a Ukrainian politician. Van der Zwaan lied during interviews about his contacts with Trump campaign aides Paul Manafort and Rick Gates, who had also worked in Ukraine. He served thirty days in prison.

Viktor Yanukovych: The former president of Ukraine, he was Paul Manafort’s main client while Manafort was a political consultant in Kiev prior to joining the Trump campaign. Manafort was credited with professionalizing Yanukovych’s political operation and helping him win his country’s presidency in 2010. Manafort continued to advise Yanukovych and his party after his victory, earning millions of dollars. In 2014, Yanukovych was ousted from office by public protests and fled to Russia.

Note to the Reader:

The Report On The Investigation Into Russian Interference In The 2016 Presidential Election also includes a somewhat different list of referenced persons and entities that appears as Appendix B in this volume.


Timeline of the Special Counsel’s Investigation



May 17, 2017: Deputy Attorney General Rod J. Rosenstein appointed Robert S. Mueller III to serve as special counsel investigating any coordination between Russia and individuals associated with the Trump campaign, as well as any matters that might arise from the investigation.

October 5, 2017: George Papadopoulos, a former adviser to the Trump campaign, pleaded guilty to lying to the FBI about his Russia contacts during the presidential campaign. His plea was unsealed and made public at the end of October; he was arrested over the summer in secret and had been negotiating with prosecutors.

October 30, 2017: Former Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort and his deputy, Rick Gates, were charged in Washington, DC, with conspiracy to defraud the United States and other crimes related to their work as political consultants in Ukraine prior to joining the Trump campaign.

December 1, 2017: Former national security adviser Michael T. Flynn pleaded guilty in federal court in Washington, DC, to lying to the FBI about his interactions during the presidential transition with Russian ambassador Sergey Kislyak.

February 16, 2018: Thirteen Russian nationals and three Russian companies were charged with conducting an elaborate two-year scheme to influence the US election by disseminating fake news and divisive advertising online and posing as Americans to inject toxic messages into online debate.

February 22, 2018: Manafort and Gates were charged again, this time in Alexandria, Virginia, with thirty-two counts related to tax and bank fraud.

February 23, 2018: Gates pleaded guilty to conspiracy to defraud the United States and lying to federal investigators and agreed to cooperate with Mueller.

June 8, 2018: Manafort was charged, along with Konstantin Kilimnik, a Russian with alleged ties to Russian intelligence who worked with Manafort in Ukraine, in a plot to obstruct justice by contacting potential witnesses against Manafort and suborning perjury. Kilimnik has denied having ties to Russian intelligence, but has not publicly addressed the obstruction charge.

July 13, 2018: Twelve Russian military intelligence officers were charged with participating in a scheme to hack email accounts of Democrats and publish correspondence stolen from the Democratic National Committee and Hillary Clinton’s campaign chairman, John Podesta, via WikiLeaks.

July 16, 2018: Manafort’s bail was revoked in the wake of witness-tampering accusations; the former Trump campaign chairman was jailed.

August 21, 2018: After a three-week trial, Manafort was convicted of eight counts of tax and bank fraud by a jury in Alexandria, Virginia. The star witness against Manafort was his former deputy Gates.

August 31, 2018: W. Samuel Patten, a political consultant, pleaded guilty to failing to register as a foreign lobbyist and admitted in an agreement with prosecutors that he steered $50,000 from a Ukrainian politician to Donald Trump’s inaugural committee. Patten’s case was technically handled by the US Attorney’s Office in Washington, not Mueller’s team, though it started with a referral from Mueller.

September 7, 2018: Papadopoulos was sentenced to serve fourteen days in prison for lying to investigators, becoming the first Trump adviser to be incarcerated as a result of the Mueller probe.

September 14, 2018: Avoiding a second trial in Washington, Manafort pleaded guilty to conspiracy against the United States and other crimes, admitting he committed bank and tax fraud, failed to properly register as a foreign agent while working as a political consultant in Ukraine, and attempted to tamper with witness testimony. He agreed to cooperate with Mueller.

November 7, 2018: After months of badgering Attorney General Jeff Sessions over his decision to recuse himself from the Russia investigation, President Trump requested Sessions’s resignation. He was replaced by Acting Attorney General Matthew Whitaker, who assumed supervisory control of the Mueller investigation, and later rejected the advice of career ethics officials who thought he should recuse himself.

November 20, 2018: After months of negotiations over whether Trump would sit for an interview, lawyers for the president submitted answers in writing to questions about the campaign from prosecutors. The president’s lawyers refused to answer questions about Trump’s decisions after taking office.

November 26, 2018: Mueller’s prosecutors informed a judge that Manafort had breached his plea agreement by lying to investigators during twelve interviews and two sessions in front of Mueller’s grand jury.

November 29, 2018: Michael Cohen, a former personal attorney to Trump, pleaded guilty to lying to Congress about the extent of efforts to build a Trump Tower in Moscow during the campaign, including his contacts with the Kremlin about the project. He agreed to cooperate with Mueller. He had previously pleaded guilty in a separate investigation to campaign finance violations he said were directed by Trump.

December 7, 2018: President Trump confirmed he would nominate William P. Barr as the attorney general of the United States to take the spot vacated by Jeff Sessions. Barr, who had served as attorney general in the George H. W. Bush administration, won Senate confirmation on February 14, 2019, by a 54-45 vote and took over supervision of the special counsel investigation as it approached its conclusion.

December 12, 2018: Cohen was sentenced to three years in prison and said at an emotional hearing that he had “been living in a personal and mental incarceration” since going to work for Trump.

December 18, 2018: Flynn asked the court to hold off sentencing him for lying to the FBI after Judge Emmet G. Sullivan told the retired lieutenant general that he had sold out his country and suggested he was likely to sentence the former national security adviser to prison time, over a recommendation from Mueller’s team.

January 24, 2019: Roger Stone, longtime Republican campaign operative and friend of Trump who briefly worked for the Trump campaign, was charged with trying to obstruct a congressional inquiry into the hacking of emails from the Democratic National Committee and John Podesta, Hillary Clinton’s campaign chairman. Stone, who vowed to fight the charges, was accused of lying to Congress about his efforts to obtain information about WikiLeaks’ releases of the material.

March 22, 2019: Attorney General William P. Barr informed Congress that Mueller had completed his investigation and submitted a final confidential report. A Justice Department official said there would be no more indictments as a result of the investigation.

March 24, 2019: Barr submitted to Congress a four-page summary of Mueller’s principal conclusions. Barr indicated that Mueller found that the evidence did not establish that Trump or anyone associated with his campaign conspired with Russia to interfere in the election. Barr said that Mueller conducted a thorough finding of facts related to the issue of whether Trump had committed obstruction of justice but ultimately did not make a traditional recommendation as to whether to prosecute the president. In his report, Barr indicated that Mueller wrote, “while this report does not conclude that the President committed a crime, it also does not exonerate him.” Barr told Congress that he and Rosenstein did not believe there was sufficient evidence to accuse Trump of obstruction.

March 27, 2019: Mueller submitted a letter to Barr, complaining that Barr’s letter three days earlier had failed to “fully capture the context, nature, and substance” of Mueller’s work. Mueller requested that Barr immediately release executive summaries of the report that had been written by his team. When the letter became public, several weeks later, Barr said he had declined, preferring to prepare the full report for release all at once.

April 18, 2019: Barr gave a press conference, again offering his summary of Mueller’s conclusions, as well as his assessment that the president had not committed obstruction of justice. He then released publicly a 448-page redacted version of Mueller’s final report.

May 1, 2019: Barr testified to the Senate Judiciary Committee about the report. Afterward, Senate Republicans declared they were done exploring Mueller’s work, while Democrats in the House vowed to press forward with more investigations.

    May 29, 2019: Mueller announced that his investigation had concluded and said he was resigning his appointment as special counsel and returning to private life. He offered a brief summary of his two years of work but said he anticipated making no further public statements about the investigation and signaled his resistance to testifying before Congress. “The report is my testimony,” he said.


Note to the Reader



    When the Justice Department released the Mueller Report to the public on April 18, 2019, the report contained black-stripe redactions with color-coded text inset to indicate the rationale for each redaction.

    Redactions with text colored white indicated they contained information harmful to ongoing matters; redactions with text colored yellow indicated information on investigative techniques; redactions with text colored red indicated grand jury information; and redactions with text colored green indicated information pertaining to personal privacy concerns.

This ebook edition modifies the colored redactions that appear in the original document, represented in the following manner:

    Ongoing matter redactions are indicated by [+ + + + +]

    Investigative technique redactions are indicated by [= = = = =]

    Grand jury redactions are indicated by [~ ~ ~ ~ ~]
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			INTRODUCTION TO VOLUME I

			This report is submitted to the Attorney General pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 600.8(c), which states that, “[a]t the conclusion of the Special Counsel’s work, he . . . shall provide the Attorney General a confidential report explaining the prosecution or declination decisions [the Special Counsel] reached.”

			The Russian government interfered in the 2016 presidential election in sweeping and systematic fashion. Evidence of Russian government operations began to surface in mid-2016. In June, the Democratic National Committee and its cyber response team publicly announced that Russian hackers had compromised its computer network. Releases of hacked materials—hacks that public reporting soon attributed to the Russian government—began that same month. Additional releases followed in July through the organization WikiLeaks, with further releases in October and November.

			In late July 2016, soon after WikiLeaks’s first release of stolen documents, a foreign government contacted the FBI about a May 2016 encounter with Trump Campaign foreign policy advisor George Papadopoulos. Papadopoulos had suggested to a representative of that foreign government that the Trump Campaign had received indications from the Russian government that it could assist the Campaign through the anonymous release of information damaging to Democratic presidential candidate Hillary Clinton. That information prompted the FBI on July 31, 2016, to open an investigation into whether individuals associated with the Trump Campaign were coordinating with the Russian government in its interference activities.

			That fall, two federal agencies jointly announced that the Russian government “directed recent compromises of e-mails from US persons and institutions, including US political organizations,” and, “[t]hese thefts and disclosures are intended to interfere with the US election process.” After the election, in late December 2016, the United States imposed sanctions on Russia for having interfered in the election. By early 2017, several congressional committees were examining Russia’s interference in the election.

			Within the Executive Branch, these investigatory efforts ultimately led to the May 2017 appointment of Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller, III. The order appointing the Special Counsel authorized him to investigate “the Russian government’s efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election,” including any links or coordination between the Russian government and individuals associated with the Trump Campaign.

			As set forth in detail in this report, the Special Counsel’s investigation established that Russia interfered in the 2016 presidential election principally through two operations. First, a Russian entity carried out a social media campaign that favored presidential candidate Donald J. Trump and disparaged presidential candidate Hillary Clinton. Second, a Russian intelligence service conducted computer-intrusion operations against entities, employees, and volunteers working on the Clinton Campaign and then released stolen documents. The investigation also identified numerous links between the Russian government and the Trump Campaign. Although the investigation established that the Russian government perceived it would benefit from a Trump presidency and worked to secure that outcome, and that the Campaign expected it would benefit electorally from information stolen and released through Russian efforts, the investigation did not establish that members of the Trump Campaign conspired or coordinated with the Russian government in its election interference activities.

			*   *   *

			Below we describe the evidentiary considerations underpinning statements about the results of our investigation and the Special Counsel’s charging decisions, and we then provide an overview of the two volumes of our report.

			The report describes actions and events that the Special Counsel’s Office found to be supported by the evidence collected in our investigation. In some instances, the report points out the absence of evidence or conflicts in the evidence about a particular fact or event. In other instances, when substantial, credible evidence enabled the Office to reach a conclusion with confidence, the report states that the investigation established that certain actions or events occurred. A statement that the investigation did not establish particular facts does not mean there was no evidence of those facts.

			In evaluating whether evidence about collective action of multiple individuals constituted a crime, we applied the framework of conspiracy law, not the concept of “collusion.” In so doing, the Office recognized that the word “collud[e]” was used in communications with the Acting Attorney General confirming certain aspects of the investigation’s scope and that the term has frequently been invoked in public reporting about the investigation. But collusion is not a specific offense or theory of liability found in the United States Code, nor is it a term of art in federal criminal law. For those reasons, the Office’s focus in analyzing questions of joint criminal liability was on conspiracy as defined in federal law. In connection with that analysis, we addressed the factual question whether members of the Trump Campaign “coordinat[ed]”—a term that appears in the appointment order—with Russian election interference activities. Like collusion, “coordination” does not have a settled definition in federal criminal law. We understood coordination to require an agreement—tacit or express—between the Trump Campaign and the Russian government on election interference. That requires more than the two parties taking actions that were informed by or responsive to the other’s actions or interests. We applied the term coordination in that sense when stating in the report that the investigation did not establish that the Trump Campaign coordinated with the Russian government in its election interference activities.

			*   *   *

			The report on our investigation consists of two volumes:

			Volume I describes the factual results of the Special Counsel’s investigation of Russia’s interference in the 2016 presidential election and its interactions with the Trump Campaign. Section I describes the scope of the investigation. Sections II and III describe the principal ways Russia interfered in the 2016 presidential election. Section IV describes links between the Russian government and individuals associated with the Trump Campaign. Section V sets forth the Special Counsel’s charging decisions.

			Volume II addresses the President’s actions towards the FBI’s investigation into Russia’s interference in the 2016 presidential election and related matters, and his actions towards the Special Counsel’s investigation. Volume II separately states its framework and the considerations that guided that investigation.

		

	
		
			EXECUTIVE SUMMARY TO VOLUME I

			RUSSIAN SOCIAL MEDIA CAMPAIGN

			The Internet Research Agency (IRA) carried out the earliest Russian interference operations identified by the investigation—a social media campaign designed to provoke and amplify political and social discord in the United States. The IRA was based in St. Petersburg, Russia, and received funding from Russian oligarch Yevgeniy Prigozhin and companies he controlled. Prigozhin is widely reported to have ties to Russian President Vladimir Putin, [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			In mid-2014, the IRA sent employees to the United States on an intelligence-gathering mission with instructions[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			The IRA later used social media accounts and interest groups to sow discord in the U.S. political system through what it termed “information warfare.” The campaign evolved from a generalized program designed in 2014 and 2015 to undermine the U.S. electoral system, to a targeted operation that by early 2016 favored candidate Trump and disparaged candidate Clinton. The IRA’s operation also included the purchase of political advertisements on social media in the names of U.S. persons and entities, as well as the staging of political rallies inside the United States. To organize those rallies, IRA employees posed as U.S. grassroots entities and persons and made contact with Trump supporters and Trump Campaign officials in the United States. The investigation did not identify evidence that any U.S. persons conspired or coordinated with the IRA. Section II of this report details the Office’s investigation of the Russian social media campaign.

			RUSSIAN HACKING OPERATIONS

			At the same time that the IRA operation began to focus on supporting candidate Trump in early 2016, the Russian government employed a second form of interference: cyber intrusions (hacking) and releases of hacked materials damaging to the Clinton Campaign. The Russian intelligence service known as the Main Intelligence Directorate of the General Staff of the Russian Army (GRU) carried out these operations.

			In March 2016, the GRU began hacking the email accounts of Clinton Campaign volunteers and employees, including campaign chairman John Podesta. In April 2016, the GRU hacked into the computer networks of the Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee (DCCC) and the Democratic National Committee (DNC). The GRU stole hundreds of thousands of documents from the compromised email accounts and networks. Around the time that the DNC announced in mid-June 2016 the Russian government’s role in hacking its network, the GRU began disseminating stolen materials through the fictitious online personas “DCLeaks” and “Guccifer 2.0.” The GRU later released additional materials through the organization WikiLeaks.

			The presidential campaign of Donald J. Trump (“Trump Campaign” or “Campaign”) showed interest in WikiLeaks’s releases of documents and welcomed their potential to damage candidate Clinton. Beginning in June 2016, [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] forecast to senior Campaign officials that WikiLeaks would release information damaging to candidate Clinton. WikiLeaks’s first release came in July 2016. Around the same time, candidate Trump announced that he hoped Russia would recover emails described as missing from a private server used by Clinton when she was Secretary of State (he later said that he was speaking sarcastically). [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] WikiLeaks began releasing Podesta’s stolen emails on October 7, 2016, less than one hour after a U.S. media outlet released video considered damaging to candidate Trump. Section III of this Report details the Office’s investigation into the Russian hacking operations, as well as other efforts by Trump Campaign supporters to obtain Clinton-related emails.

			RUSSIAN CONTACTS WITH THE CAMPAIGN

			The social media campaign and the GRU hacking operations coincided with a series of contacts between Trump Campaign officials and individuals with ties to the Russian government. The Office investigated whether those contacts reflected or resulted in the Campaign conspiring or coordinating with Russia in its election-interference activities. Although the investigation established that the Russian government perceived it would benefit from a Trump presidency and worked to secure that outcome, and that the Campaign expected it would benefit electorally from information stolen and released through Russian efforts, the investigation did not establish that members of the Trump Campaign conspired or coordinated with the Russian government in its election interference activities.

			The Russian contacts consisted of business connections, offers of assistance to the Campaign, invitations for candidate Trump and Putin to meet in person, invitations for Campaign officials and representatives of the Russian government to meet, and policy positions seeking improved U.S.-Russian relations. Section IV of this Report details the contacts between Russia and the Trump Campaign during the campaign and transition periods, the most salient of which are summarized below in chronological order.

			 2015. Some of the earliest contacts were made in connection with a Trump Organization real-estate project in Russia known as Trump Tower Moscow. Candidate Trump signed a Letter of Intent for Trump Tower Moscow by November 2015, and in January 2016 Trump Organization executive Michael Cohen emailed and spoke about the project with the office of Russian government press secretary Dmitry Peskov. The Trump Organization pursued the project through at least June 2016, including by considering travel to Russia by Cohen and candidate Trump.

			Spring 2016. Campaign foreign policy advisor George Papadopoulos made early contact with Joseph Mifsud, a London-based professor who had connections to Russia and traveled to Moscow in April 2016. Immediately upon his return to London from that trip, Mifsud told Papadopoulos that the Russian government had “dirt” on Hillary Clinton in the form of thousands of emails. One week later, in the first week of May 2016, Papadopoulos suggested to a representative of a foreign government that the Trump Campaign had received indications from the Russian government that it could assist the Campaign through the anonymous release of information damaging to candidate Clinton. Throughout that period of time and for several months thereafter, Papadopoulos worked with Mifsud and two Russian nationals to arrange a meeting between the Campaign and the Russian government. No meeting took place.

			Summer 2016. Russian outreach to the Trump Campaign continued into the summer of 2016, as candidate Trump was becoming the presumptive Republican nominee for President. On June 9, 2016, for example, a Russian lawyer met with senior Trump Campaign officials Donald Trump Jr., Jared Kushner, and campaign chairman Paul Manafort to deliver what the email proposing the meeting had described as “official documents and information that would incriminate Hillary.” The materials were offered to Trump Jr. as “part of Russia and its government’s support for Mr. Trump.” The written communications setting up the meeting showed that the Campaign anticipated receiving information from Russia that could assist candidate Trump’s electoral prospects, but the Russian lawyer’s presentation did not provide such information.

			Days after the June 9 meeting, on June 14, 2016, a cybersecurity firm and the DNC announced that Russian government hackers had infiltrated the DNC and obtained access to opposition research on candidate Trump, among other documents.

			In July 2016, Campaign foreign policy advisor Carter Page traveled in his personal capacity to Moscow and gave the keynote address at the New Economic School. Page had lived and worked in Russia between 2003 and 2007. After returning to the United States, Page became acquainted with at least two Russian intelligence officers, one of whom was later charged in 2015 with conspiracy to act as an unregistered agent of Russia. Page’s July 2016 trip to Moscow and his advocacy for pro-Russian foreign policy drew media attention. The Campaign then distanced itself from Page and, by late September 2016, removed him from the Campaign.

			July 2016 was also the month WikiLeaks first released emails stolen by the GRU from the DNC. On July 22, 2016, WikiLeaks posted thousands of internal DNC documents revealing information about the Clinton Campaign. Within days, there was public reporting that U.S. intelligence agencies had “high confidence” that the Russian government was behind the theft of emails and documents from the DNC. And within a week of the release, a foreign government informed the FBI about its May 2016 interaction with Papadopoulos and his statement that the Russian government could assist the Trump Campaign. On July 31, 2016, based on the foreign government reporting, the FBI opened an investigation into potential coordination between the Russian government and individuals associated with the Trump Campaign.

			Separately, on August 2, 2016, Trump campaign chairman Paul Manafort met in New York City with his long-time business associate Konstantin Kilimnik, who the FBI assesses to have ties to Russian intelligence. Kilimnik requested the meeting to deliver in person a peace plan for Ukraine that Manafort acknowledged to the Special Counsel’s Office was a “backdoor” way for Russia to control part of eastern Ukraine; both men believed the plan would require candidate Trump’s assent to succeed (were he to be elected President). They also discussed the status of the Trump Campaign and Manafort’s strategy for winning Democratic votes in Midwestern states. Months before that meeting, Manafort had caused internal polling data to be shared with Kilimnik, and the sharing continued for some period of time after their August meeting.

			Fall 2016. On October 7, 2016, the media released video of candidate Trump speaking in graphic terms about women years earlier, which was considered damaging to his candidacy. Less than an hour later, WikiLeaks made its second release: thousands of John Podesta’s emails that had been stolen by the GRU in late March 2016. The FBI and other U.S. government institutions were at the time continuing their investigation of suspected Russian government efforts to interfere in the presidential election. That same day, October 7, the Department of Homeland Security and the Office of the Director of National Intelligence issued a joint public statement “that the Russian Government directed the recent compromises of e-mails from US persons and institutions, including from US political organizations.” Those “thefts” and the “disclosures” of the hacked materials through online platforms such as WikiLeaks, the statement continued, “are intended to interfere with the US election process.”

			Post-2016 Election. Immediately after the November 8 election, Russian government officials and prominent Russian businessmen began trying to make inroads into the new administration. The most senior levels of the Russian government encouraged these efforts. The Russian Embassy made contact hours after the election to congratulate the President-Elect and to arrange a call with President Putin. Several Russian businessmen picked up the effort from there.

			Kirill Dmitriev, the chief executive officer of Russia’s sovereign wealth fund, was among the Russians who tried to make contact with the incoming administration. In early December, a business associate steered Dmitriev to Erik Prince, a supporter of the Trump Campaign and an associate of senior Trump advisor Steve Bannon. Dmitriev and Prince later met face-to-face in January 2017 in the Seychelles and discussed U.S.-Russia relations. During the same period, another business associate introduced Dmitriev to a friend of Jared Kushner who had not served on the Campaign or the Transition Team. Dmitriev and Kushner’s friend collaborated on a short written reconciliation plan for the United States and Russia, which Dmitriev implied had been cleared through Putin. The friend gave that proposal to Kushner before the inauguration, and Kushner later gave copies to Bannon and incoming Secretary of State Rex Tillerson.

			On December 29, 2016, then-President Obama imposed sanctions on Russia for having interfered in the election. Incoming National Security Advisor Michael Flynn called Russian Ambassador Sergey Kislyak and asked Russia not to escalate the situation in response to the sanctions. The following day, Putin announced that Russia would not take retaliatory measures in response to the sanctions at that time. Hours later, President-Elect Trump tweeted, “Great move on delay (by V. Putin).” The next day, on December 31, 2016, Kislyak called Flynn and told him the request had been received at the highest levels and Russia had chosen not to retaliate as a result of Flynn’s request.

			*   *   *

			On January 6, 2017, members of the intelligence community briefed President-Elect Trump on a joint assessment—drafted and coordinated among the Central Intelligence Agency, FBI, and National Security Agency—that concluded with high confidence that Russia had intervened in the election through a variety of means to assist Trump’s candidacy and harm Clinton’s. A declassified version of the assessment was publicly released that same day.

			Between mid-January 2017 and early February 2017, three congressional committees—the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence (HPSCI), the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence (SSCI), and the Senate Judiciary Committee (SJC)—announced that they would conduct inquiries, or had already been conducting inquiries, into Russian interference in the election. Then-FBI Director James Comey later confirmed to Congress the existence of the FBI’s investigation into Russian interference that had begun before the election. On March 20, 2017, in open-session testimony before HPSCI, Comey stated:

			I have been authorized by the Department of Justice to confirm that the FBI, as part of our counterintelligence mission, is investigating the Russian government’s efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election, and that includes investigating the nature of any links between individuals associated with the Trump campaign and the Russian government and whether there was any coordination between the campaign and Russia’s efforts. . . . As with any counterintelligence investigation, this will also include an assessment of whether any crimes were committed.

			The investigation continued under then-Director Comey for the next seven weeks until May 9, 2017, when President Trump fired Comey as FBI Director—an action which is analyzed in Volume II of the report.

			On May 17, 2017, Acting Attorney General Rod Rosenstein appointed the Special Counsel and authorized him to conduct the investigation that Comey had confirmed in his congressional testimony, as well as matters arising directly from the investigation, and any other matters within the scope of 28 C.F.R. § 600.4(a), which generally covers efforts to interfere with or obstruct the investigation.

			President Trump reacted negatively to the Special Counsel’s appointment. He told advisors that it was the end of his presidency, sought to have Attorney General Jefferson (Jeff) Sessions unrecuse from the Russia investigation and to have the Special Counsel removed, and engaged in efforts to curtail the Special Counsel’s investigation and prevent the disclosure of evidence to it, including through public and private contacts with potential witnesses. Those and related actions are described and analyzed in Volume II of the report.

			*   *   *

			THE SPECIAL COUNSEL’S CHARGING DECISIONS

			In reaching the charging decisions described in Volume I of the report, the Office determined whether the conduct it found amounted to a violation of federal criminal law chargeable under the Principles of Federal Prosecution. See Justice Manual § 9-27.000 et seq. (2018). The standard set forth in the Justice Manual is whether the conduct constitutes a crime; if so, whether admissible evidence would probably be sufficient to obtain and sustain a conviction; and whether prosecution would serve a substantial federal interest that could not be adequately served by prosecution elsewhere or through non-criminal alternatives. See Justice Manual § 9-27.220.

			Section V of the report provides detailed explanations of the Office’s charging decisions, which contain three main components.

			First, the Office determined that Russia’s two principal interference operations in the 2016 U.S. presidential election—the social media campaign and the hacking-and-dumping operations—violated U.S. criminal law. Many of the individuals and entities involved in the social media campaign have been charged with participating in a conspiracy to defraud the United States by undermining through deceptive acts the work of federal agencies charged with regulating foreign influence in U.S. elections, as well as related counts of identity theft. See United States v. Internet Research Agency, et al., No. 18-cr-32 (D.D.C.). Separately, Russian intelligence officers who carried out the hacking into Democratic Party computers and the personal email accounts of individuals affiliated with the Clinton Campaign conspired to violate, among other federal laws, the federal computer-intrusion statute, and they have been so charged. See United States v. Netyksho, et al., No. 18-cr-215 (D.D.C.). [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +][# # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # #]

			Second, while the investigation identified numerous links between individuals with ties to the Russian government and individuals associated with the Trump Campaign, the evidence was not sufficient to support criminal charges. Among other things, the evidence was not sufficient to charge any Campaign official as an unregistered agent of the Russian government or other Russian principal. And our evidence about the June 9, 2016 meeting and WikiLeaks’s releases of hacked materials was not sufficient to charge a criminal campaign-finance violation. Further, the evidence was not sufficient to charge that any member of the Trump Campaign conspired with representatives of the Russian government to interfere in the 2016 election.

			Third, the investigation established that several individuals affiliated with the Trump Campaign lied to the Office, and to Congress, about their interactions with Russian-affiliated individuals and related matters. Those lies materially impaired the investigation of Russian election interference. The Office charged some of those lies as violations of the federal false-statements statute. Former National Security Advisor Michael Flynn pleaded guilty to lying about his interactions with Russian Ambassador Kislyak during the transition period. George Papadopoulos, a foreign policy advisor during the campaign period, pleaded guilty to lying to investigators about, inter alia, the nature and timing of his interactions with Joseph Mifsud, the professor who told Papadopoulos that the Russians had dirt on candidate Clinton in the form of thousands of emails. Former Trump Organization attorney Michael Cohen pleaded guilty to making false statements to Congress about the Trump Moscow project. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] And in February 2019, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia found that Manafort lied to the Office and the grand jury concerning his interactions and communications with Konstantin Kilimnik about Trump Campaign polling data and a peace plan for Ukraine.

			*   *   *

			The Office investigated several other events that have been publicly reported to involve potential Russia-related contacts. For example, the investigation established that interactions between Russian Ambassador Kislyak and Trump Campaign officials both at the candidate’s April 2016 foreign policy speech in Washington, D.C., and during the week of the Republican National Convention were brief, public, and non-substantive. And the investigation did not establish that one Campaign official’s efforts to dilute a portion of the Republican Party platform on providing assistance to Ukraine were undertaken at the behest of candidate Trump or Russia. The investigation also did not establish that a meeting between Kislyak and Sessions in September 2016 at Sessions’s Senate office included any more than a passing mention of the presidential campaign.

			The investigation did not always yield admissible information or testimony, or a complete picture of the activities undertaken by subjects of the investigation. Some individuals invoked their Fifth Amendment right against compelled self-incrimination and were not, in the Office’s judgment, appropriate candidates for grants of immunity. The Office limited its pursuit of other witnesses and information—such as information known to attorneys or individuals claiming to be members of the media—in light of internal Department of Justice policies. See, e.g., Justice Manual §§ 9-13.400, 13.410. Some of the information obtained via court process, moreover, was presumptively covered by legal privilege and was screened from investigators by a filter (or “taint”) team. Even when individuals testified or agreed to be interviewed, they sometimes provided information that was false or incomplete, leading to some of the false-statements charges described above. And the Office faced practical limits on its ability to access relevant evidence as well—numerous witnesses and subjects lived abroad, and documents were held outside the United States.

			Further, the Office learned that some of the individuals we interviewed or whose conduct we investigated—including some associated with the Trump Campaign—deleted relevant communications or communicated during the relevant period using applications that feature encryption or that do not provide for long-term retention of data or communications records. In such cases, the Office was not able to corroborate witness statements through comparison to contemporaneous communications or fully question witnesses about statements that appeared inconsistent with other known facts.

			Accordingly, while this report embodies factual and legal determinations that the Office believes to be accurate and complete to the greatest extent possible, given these identified gaps, the Office cannot rule out the possibility that the unavailable information would shed additional light on (or cast in a new light) the events described in the report.

		

	
		
			I. THE SPECIAL COUNSEL'S INVESTIGATION

			On May 17, 2017, Deputy Attorney General Rod J. Rosenstein—then serving as Acting Attorney General for the Russia investigation following the recusal of former Attorney General Jeff Sessions on March 2, 2016—appointed the Special Counsel “to investigate Russian interference with the 2016 presidential election and related matters.” Office of the Deputy Att’y Gen., Order No. 3915-2017, Appointment of Special Counsel to Investigate Russian Interference with the 2016 Presidential Election and Related Matters, May 17, 2017) (“Appointment Order”). Relying on “the authority vested” in the Acting Attorney General, “including 28 U.S.C. §§ 509, 510, and 515,” the Acting Attorney General ordered the appointment of a Special Counsel “in order to discharge [the Acting Attorney General’s] responsibility to provide supervision and management of the Department of Justice, and to ensure a full and thorough investigation of the Russian government’s efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election.” Appointment Order (introduction). “The Special Counsel,” the Order stated, “is authorized to conduct the investigation confirmed by then-FBI Director James B. Comey in testimony before the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence on March 20, 2017,” including:

			(i) any links and/or coordination between the Russian government and individuals associated with the campaign of President Donald Trump; and

			(ii) any matters that arose or may arise directly from the investigation; and

			(iii) any other matters within the scope of 28 C.F.R. § 600.4(a).

			Appointment Order ¶ (b). Section 600.4 affords the Special Counsel “the authority to investigate and prosecute federal crimes committed in the course of, and with intent to interfere with, the Special Counsel’s investigation, such as perjury, obstruction of justice, destruction of evidence, and intimidation of witnesses.” 28 C.F.R. § 600.4(a). The authority to investigate “any matters that arose . . . directly from the investigation,” Appointment Order ¶ (b)(ii), covers similar crimes that may have occurred during the course of the FBI’s confirmed investigation before the Special Counsel’s appointment. “If the Special Counsel believes it is necessary and appropriate,” the Order further provided, “the Special Counsel is authorized to prosecute federal crimes arising from the investigation of these matters.” Id. ¶ (c). Finally, the Acting Attorney General made applicable “Sections 600.4 through 600.10 of Title 28 of the Code of Federal Regulations.” Id. ¶ (d).

			The Acting Attorney General further clarified the scope of the Special Counsel’s investigatory authority in two subsequent memoranda. A memorandum dated August 2, 2017, explained that the Appointment Order had been “worded categorically in order to permit its public release without confirming specific investigations involving specific individuals.” It then confirmed that the Special Counsel had been authorized since his appointment to investigate allegations that three Trump campaign officials—Carter Page, Paul Manafort, and George Papadopoulos—“committed a crime or crimes by colluding with Russian government officials with respect to the Russian government’s efforts to interfere with the 2016 presidential election.” The memorandum also confirmed the Special Counsel’s authority to investigate certain other matters, including two additional sets of allegations involving Manafort (crimes arising from payments he received from the Ukrainian government and crimes arising from his receipt of loans from a bank whose CEO was then seeking a position in the Trump Administration); allegations that Papadopoulos committed a crime or crimes by acting as an unregistered agent of the Israeli government; and four sets of allegations involving Michael Flynn, the former National Security Advisor to President Trump.

			On October 20, 2017, the Acting Attorney General confirmed in a memorandum the Special Counsel’s investigative authority as to several individuals and entities. First, “as part of a full and thorough investigation of the Russian government’s efforts to interfere in the 2016 presidential election,” the Special Counsel was authorized to investigate “the pertinent activities of Michael Cohen, Richard Gates, [# # # # # # # # # # # # # #], Roger Stone, and [# # # # # # # # # # # # # #]” “Confirmation of the authorization to investigate such individuals,” the memorandum stressed, “does not suggest that the Special Counsel has made a determination that any of them has committed a crime.” Second, with respect to Michael Cohen, the memorandum recognized the Special Counsel’s authority to investigate “leads relate[d] to Cohen’s establishment and use of Essential Consultants LLC to, inter alia, receive funds from Russian-backed entities.” Third, the memorandum memorialized the Special Counsel’s authority to investigate individuals and entities who were possibly engaged in “jointly undertaken activity” with existing subjects of the investigation, including Paul Manafort. Finally, the memorandum described an FBI investigation opened before the Special Counsel’s appointment into “allegations that [then-Attorney General Jeff Sessions] made false statements to the United States Senate[,]” and confirmed the Special Counsel’s authority to investigate that matter.

			The Special Counsel structured the investigation in view of his power and authority “to exercise all investigative and prosecutorial functions of any United States Attorney.” 28 C.F.R. § 600.6. Like a U.S. Attorney’s Office, the Special Counsel’s Office considered a range of classified and unclassified information available to the FBI in the course of the Office’s Russia investigation, and the Office structured that work around evidence for possible use in prosecutions of federal crimes (assuming that one or more crimes were identified that warranted prosecution). There was substantial evidence immediately available to the Special Counsel at the inception of the investigation in May 2017 because the FBI had, by that time, already investigated Russian election interference for nearly 10 months. The Special Counsel’s Office exercised its judgment regarding what to investigate and did not, for instance, investigate every public report of a contact between the Trump Campaign and Russian-affiliated individuals and entities.

			The Office has concluded its investigation into links and coordination between the Russian government and individuals associated with the Trump Campaign. Certain proceedings associated with the Office’s work remain ongoing. After consultation with the Office of the Deputy Attorney General, the Office has transferred responsibility for those remaining issues to other components of the Department of Justice and FBI. Appendix D lists those transfers.

			Two district courts confirmed the breadth of the Special Counsel’s authority to investigate Russia election interference and links and/or coordination with the Trump Campaign. See United States v. Manafort, 312 F. Supp. 3d 60, 79-83 (D.D.C. 2018); United States v. Manafort, 321 F. Supp. 3d 640, 650-655 (E.D. Va. 2018). In the course of conducting that investigation, the Office periodically identified evidence of potential criminal activity that was outside the scope of the Special Counsel’s authority established by the Acting Attorney General. After consultation with the Office of the Deputy Attorney General, the Office referred that evidence to appropriate law enforcement authorities, principally other components of the Department of Justice and to the FBI. Appendix D summarizes those referrals.

			*   *   *

			To carry out the investigation and prosecution of the matters assigned to him, the Special Counsel assembled a team that at its high point included 19 attorneys—five of whom joined the Office from private practice and 14 on detail or assigned from other Department of Justice components. These attorneys were assisted by a filter team of Department lawyers and FBI personnel who screened materials obtained via court process for privileged information before turning those materials over to investigators; a support staff of three paralegals on detail from the Department’s Antitrust Division; and an administrative staff of nine responsible for budget, finance, purchasing, human resources, records, facilities, security, information technology, and administrative support. The Special Counsel attorneys and support staff were co-located with and worked alongside approximately 40 FBI agents, intelligence analysts, forensic accountants, a paralegal, and professional staff assigned by the FBI to assist the Special Counsel’s investigation. Those “assigned” FBI employees remained under FBI supervision at all times; the matters on which they assisted were supervised by the Special Counsel.1

			During its investigation the Office issued more than 2,800 subpoenas under the auspices of a grand jury sitting in the District of Columbia; executed nearly 500 search-and-seizure warrants; obtained more than 230 orders for communications records under 18 U.S.C. § 2703(d); obtained almost 50 orders authorizing use of pen registers; made 13 requests to foreign governments pursuant to Mutual Legal Assistance Treaties; and interviewed approximately 500 witnesses, including almost 80 before a grand jury.

			*   *   *

			From its inception, the Office recognized that its investigation could identify foreign intelligence and counterintelligence information relevant to the FBI’s broader national security mission. FBI personnel who assisted the Office established procedures to identify and convey such information to the FBI. The FBI’s Counterintelligence Division met with the Office regularly for that purpose for most of the Office’s tenure. For more than the past year, the FBI also embedded personnel at the Office who did not work on the Special Counsel’s investigation, but whose purpose was to review the results of the investigation and to send—in writing—summaries of foreign intelligence and counterintelligence information to FBIHQ and FBI Field Offices. Those communications and other correspondence between the Office and the FBI contain information derived from the investigation, not all of which is contained in this Volume. This Volume is a summary. It contains, in the Office’s judgment, that information necessary to account for the Special Counsel’s prosecution and declination decisions and to describe the investigation’s main factual results.



	
		
			II. RUSSIAN “ACTIVE MEASURES” SOCIAL MEDIA CAMPAIGN

			The first form of Russian election influence came principally from the Internet Research Agency, LLC (IRA), a Russian organization funded by Yevgeniy Viktorovich Prigozhin and companies he controlled, including Concord Management and Consulting LLC and Concord Catering (collectively “Concord”).2 The IRA conducted social media operations targeted at large U.S. audiences with the goal of sowing discord in the U.S. political system.3 These operations constituted “active measures” (активные мероприятия), a term that typically refers to operations conducted by Russian security services aimed at influencing the course of international affairs.4

			The IRA and its employees began operations targeting the United States as early as 2014. Using fictitious U.S. personas, IRA employees operated social media accounts and group pages designed to attract U.S. audiences. These groups and accounts, which addressed divisive U.S. political and social issues, falsely claimed to be controlled by U.S. activists. Over time, these social media accounts became a means to reach large U.S. audiences. IRA employees travelled to the United States in mid-2014 on an intelligence-gathering mission to obtain information and photographs for use in their social media posts.

			IRA employees posted derogatory information about a number of candidates in the 2016 U.S. presidential election. By early to mid-2016, IRA operations included supporting the Trump Campaign and disparaging candidate Hillary Clinton. The IRA made various expenditures to carry out those activities, including buying political advertisements on social media in the names of U.S. persons and entities. Some IRA employees, posing as U.S. persons and without revealing their Russian association, communicated electronically with individuals associated with the Trump Campaign and with other political activists to seek to coordinate political activities, including the staging of political rallies.5 The investigation did not identify evidence that any U.S. persons knowingly or intentionally coordinated with the IRA’s interference operation.

			By the end of the 2016 U.S. election, the IRA had the ability to reach millions of U.S. persons through their social media accounts. Multiple IRA-controlled Facebook groups and Instagram accounts had hundreds of thousands of U.S. participants. IRA-controlled Twitter accounts separately had tens of thousands of followers, including multiple U.S. political figures who retweeted IRA-created content. In November 2017, a Facebook representative testified that Facebook had identified 470 IRA-controlled Facebook accounts that collectively made 80,000 posts between January 2015 and August 2017. Facebook estimated the IRA reached as many as 126 million persons through its Facebook accounts.6 In January 2018, Twitter announced that it had identified 3,814 IRA-controlled Twitter accounts and notified approximately 1.4 million people Twitter believed may have been in contact with an IRA-controlled account.7

			A. Structure of the Internet Research Agency

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]8 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]9 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]10

			The organization quickly grew. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]11 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]12

			The growth of the organization also led to a more detailed organizational structure. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]13

			Two individuals headed the IRA’s management: its general director, Mikhail Bystrov, and its executive director, Mikhail Burchik. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]14 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]15

			As early as the spring of 2014, the IRA began to hide its funding and activities. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]16

			The IRA’s U.S. operations are part of a larger set of interlocking operations known as “Project Lakhta,” [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]17 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]18

			B. Funding and Oversight from Concord and Prigozhin

			Until at least February 2018, Yevgeniy Viktorovich Prigozhin and two Concord companies funded the IRA. Prigozhin is a wealthy Russian businessman who served as the head of Concord. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] Prigozhin was sanctioned by the U.S. Treasury Department in December 2016,19 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]20 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]21 Numerous media sources have reported on Prigozhin’s ties to Putin, and the two have appeared together in public photographs.22
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			C. The IRA Targets U.S. Elections

			1.  The IRA Ramps Up U.S. Operations As Early As 2014

			The IRA’s U.S. operations sought to influence public opinion through online media and forums. By the spring of 2014, the IRA began to consolidate U.S. operations within a single general department, known internally as the “Translator” (Переводчик) department. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] IRA subdivided the Translator Department into different responsibilities, ranging from operations on different social media platforms to analytics to graphics and IT.
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			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]37

			IRA employees also traveled to the United States on intelligence-gathering missions. In June 2014, four IRA employees applied to the U.S. Department of State to enter the United States, while lying about the purpose of their trip and claiming to be four friends who had met at a party.38 Ultimately, two IRA employees—Anna Bogacheva and Aleksandra Krylova—received visas and entered the United States on June 4, 2014.

			Prior to traveling, Krylova and Bogacheva compiled itineraries and instructions for the trip. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]39 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]40 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]41

			2.  U.S. Operations Through IRA-Controlled Social Media Accounts

			Dozens of IRA employees were responsible for operating accounts and personas on different U.S. social media platforms. The IRA referred to employees assigned to operate the social media accounts as “specialists.”42 Starting as early as 2014, the IRA’s U.S. operations included social media specialists focusing on Facebook, YouTube, and Twitter.43 The IRA later added specialists who operated on Tumblr and Instagram accounts.44

			Initially, the IRA created social media accounts that pretended to be the personal accounts of U.S. persons.45 By early 2015, the IRA began to create larger social media groups or public social media pages that claimed (falsely) to be affiliated with U.S. political and grassroots organizations. In certain cases, the IRA created accounts that mimicked real U.S. organizations. For example, one IRA-controlled Twitter account, @TEN_GOP, purported to be connected to the Tennessee Republican Party.46 More commonly, the IRA created accounts in the names of fictitious U.S. organizations and grassroots groups and used these accounts to pose as anti-immigration groups, Tea Party activists, Black Lives Matter protestors, and other U.S. social and political activists.
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			By February 2016, internal IRA documents referred to support for the Trump Campaign and opposition to candidate Clinton.49 For example, [+ + + + + + + + + + + + +] directions to IRA operators [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] “Main idea: Use any opportunity to criticize Hillary [Clinton] and the rest (except Sanders and Trump - we support them).”50 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			The focus on the U.S. presidential campaign continued throughout 2016. In [+ + + + +] 2016 internal [+ + + + +] reviewing the IRA-controlled Facebook group “Secured Borders,” the author criticized the “lower number of posts dedicated to criticizing Hillary Clinton” and reminded the Facebook specialist “it is imperative to intensify criticizing Hillary Clinton.”51

			IRA employees also acknowledged that their work focused on influencing the U.S. presidential election. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]
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			3.  U.S. Operations Through Facebook

			 Many IRA operations used Facebook accounts created and operated by its specialists. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]
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			[+]    [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			[+]    [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]
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			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]54 IRA Facebook groups active during the 2016 campaign covered a range of political issues and included purported conservative groups (with names such as “Being Patriotic,” “Stop All Immigrants,” “Secured Borders,” and “Tea Party News”), purported Black social justice groups (“Black Matters,” “Blacktivist,” and “Don’t Shoot Us”), LGBTQ groups (“LGBT United”), and religious groups (“United Muslims of America”).

			Throughout 2016, IRA accounts published an increasing number of materials supporting the Trump Campaign and opposing the Clinton Campaign. For example, on May 31, 2016, the operational account “Matt Skiber” began to privately message dozens of pro-Trump Facebook groups asking them to help plan a “pro-Trump rally near Trump Tower.”55

			To reach larger U.S. audiences, the IRA purchased advertisements from Facebook that promoted the IRA groups on the newsfeeds of U.S. audience members. According to Facebook, the IRA purchased over 3,500 advertisements, and the expenditures totaled approximately $100,000.56

			During the U.S. presidential campaign, many IRA-purchased advertisements explicitly supported or opposed a presidential candidate or promoted U.S. rallies organized by the IRA (discussed below). As early as March 2016, the IRA purchased advertisements that overtly opposed the Clinton Campaign. For example, on March 18, 2016, the IRA purchased an advertisement depicting candidate Clinton and a caption that read in part, “If one day God lets this liar enter the White House as a president – that day would be a real national tragedy.”57 Similarly, on April 6, 2016, the IRA purchased advertisements for its account “Black Matters” calling for a “flashmob” of U.S. persons to “take a photo with #HillaryClintonForPrison2016 or #nohillary2016.”58 IRA-purchased advertisements featuring Clinton were, with very few exceptions, negative.59

			IRA-purchased advertisements referencing candidate Trump largely supported his campaign. The first known IRA advertisement explicitly endorsing the Trump Campaign was purchased on April 19, 2016. The IRA bought an advertisement for its Instagram account “Tea Party News” asking U.S. persons to help them “make a patriotic team of young Trump supporters” by uploading photos with the hashtag “#KIDS4TRUMP.”60 In subsequent months, the IRA purchased dozens of advertisements supporting the Trump Campaign, predominantly through the Facebook groups “Being Patriotic,” “Stop All Invaders,” and “Secured Borders.”

			Collectively, the IRA’s social media accounts reached tens of millions of U.S. persons. Individual IRA social media accounts attracted hundreds of thousands of followers. For example, at the time they were deactivated by Facebook in mid-2017, the IRA’s “United Muslims of America” Facebook group had over 300,000 followers, the “Don’t Shoot Us” Facebook group had over 250,000 followers, the “Being Patriotic” Facebook group had over 200,000 followers, and the “Secured Borders” Facebook group had over 130,000 followers.61 According to Facebook, in total the IRA-controlled accounts made over 80,000 posts before their deactivation in August 2017, and these posts reached at least 29 million U.S persons and “may have reached an estimated 126 million people.”62

			4.  U.S. Operations Through Twitter

			A number of IRA employees assigned to the Translator Department served as Twitter specialists. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]63

			The IRA’s Twitter operations involved two strategies. First, IRA specialists operated certain Twitter accounts to create individual U.S. personas, [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]64 Separately, the IRA operated a network of automated Twitter accounts (commonly referred to as a bot network) that enabled the IRA to amplify existing content on Twitter.

			a. Individualized Accounts

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]65[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]66 The IRA operated individualized Twitter accounts similar to the operation of its Facebook accounts, by continuously posting original content to the accounts while also communicating with U.S. Twitter users directly (through public tweeting or Twitter’s private messaging).

			The IRA used many of these accounts to attempt to influence U.S. audiences on the election. Individualized accounts used to influence the U.S. presidential election included @TEN_GOP (described above); @jenn_abrams (claiming to be a Virginian Trump supporter with 70,000 followers); @Pamela_Moore13 (claiming to be a Texan Trump supporter with 70,000 followers); and @America_lst_ (an anti-immigration persona with 24,000 followers).67 In May 2016, the IRA created the Twitter account @march_for_trump, which promoted IRA-organized rallies in support of the Trump Campaign (described below).68

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]69

			Using these accounts and others, the IRA provoked reactions from users and the media. Multiple IRA-posted tweets gained popularity.70 U.S. media outlets also quoted tweets from IRA-controlled accounts and attributed them to the reactions of real U.S. persons.71 Similarly, numerous high-profile U.S. persons, including former Ambassador Michael McFaul,72 Roger Stone,73 Sean Hannity,74 and Michael Flynn Jr.,75 retweeted or responded to tweets posted to these IRA-controlled accounts. Multiple individuals affiliated with the Trump Campaign also promoted IRA tweets (discussed below).

			b. IRA Botnet Activities

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]76

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +] [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]77

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]78

			In January 2018, Twitter publicly identified 3,814 Twitter accounts associated with the IRA.79 According to Twitter, in the ten weeks before the 2016 U.S. presidential election, these accounts posted approximately 175,993 tweets, “approximately 8.4% of which were election-related.”80 Twitter also announced that it had notified approximately 1.4 million people who Twitter believed may have been in contact with an IRA-controlled account.81

			5.  U.S. Operations Involving Political Rallies

			The IRA organized and promoted political rallies inside the United States while posing as U.S. grassroots activists. First, the IRA used one of its preexisting social media personas (Facebook groups and Twitter accounts, for example) to announce and promote the event. The IRA then sent a large number of direct messages to followers of its social media account asking them to attend the event. From those who responded with interest in attending, the IRA then sought a U.S. person to serve as the event’s coordinator. In most cases, the IRA account operator would tell the U.S. person that they personally could not attend the event due to some preexisting conflict or because they were somewhere else in the United States.82 The IRA then further promoted the event by contacting U.S. media about the event and directing them to speak with the coordinator.83 After the event, the IRA posted videos and photographs of the event to the IRA’s social media accounts.84

			The Office identified dozens of U.S. rallies organized by the IRA. The earliest evidence of a rally was a “confederate rally” in November 2015.85 The IRA continued to organize rallies even after the 2016 U.S. presidential election. The attendance at rallies varied. Some rallies appear to have drawn few (if any) participants, while others drew hundreds. The reach and success of these rallies was closely monitored [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			From June 2016 until the end of the presidential campaign, almost all of the U.S. rallies organized by the IRA focused on the U.S. election, often promoting the Trump Campaign and opposing the Clinton Campaign. Pro-Trump rallies included three in New York; a series of pro-Trump rallies in Florida in August 2016; and a series of pro-Trump rallies in October 2016 in Pennsylvania. The Florida rallies drew the attention of the Trump Campaign, which posted about the  Miami rally on candidate Trump's Facebook account (as discussed below).86

			Many of the same IRA employees who oversaw the IRA’s social media accounts also conducted the day-to-day recruiting for political rallies inside the United States. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + ]87
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			IRA Poster for Pennsylvania Rallies organized by the IRA

			6.  Targeting and Recruitment of U.S. Persons

			As early as 2014, the IRA instructed its employees to target U.S. persons who could be used to advance its operational goals. Initially, recruitment focused on U.S. persons who could amplify the content posted by the IRA. [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +].88

			 IRA employees frequently used [= = = = = = = = = = = =] Twitter, Facebook, and Instagram to contact and recruit U.S. persons who followed the group. The IRA recruited U.S. persons from across the political spectrum. For example, the IRA targeted the family of [# # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # #] and a number of black social justice activists while posing as a grassroots group called “Black Matters US.”89 In February 2017, the persona “Black Fist” (purporting to want to teach African-Americans to protect themselves when contacted by law enforcement) hired a self-defense instructor in New York to offer classes sponsored by Black Fist. The IRA also recruited moderators of conservative social media groups to promote IRA-generated content,90 as well as recruited individuals to perform political acts (such as walking around New York City dressed up as Santa Claus with a Trump mask).91

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]92 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]93 [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]94

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + +] as the IRA’s online audience became larger, the IRA tracked U.S. persons with whom they communicated and had successfully tasked (with tasks ranging from organizing rallies to taking pictures with certain political messages). [+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]95

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]

			7.  Interactions and Contacts with the Trump Campaign

			The investigation identified two different forms of connections between the IRA and members of the Trump Campaign. (The investigation identified no similar connections between the IRA and the Clinton Campaign.) First, on multiple occasions, members and surrogates of the Trump Campaign promoted—typically by linking, retweeting, or similar methods of reposting—pro-Trump or anti-Clinton content published by the IRA through IRA-controlled social media accounts. Additionally, in a few instances, IRA employees represented themselves as U.S. persons to communicate with members of the Trump Campaign in an effort to seek assistance and coordination on IRA-organized political rallies inside the United States.

			a. Trump Campaign Promotion of IRA Political Materials

			Among the U.S. “leaders of public opinion” targeted by the IRA were various members and surrogates of the Trump Campaign. In total, Trump Campaign affiliates promoted dozens of tweets, posts, and other political content created by the IRA.

			- Posts from the IRA-controlled Twitter account @TEN_GOP were cited or retweeted by multiple Trump Campaign officials and surrogates, including Donald J. Trump Jr.,96 Eric Trump,97 Kellyanne Conway,98 Brad Parscale,99 and Michael T. Flynn.100 These posts included allegations of voter fraud,101 as well as allegations that Secretary Clinton had mishandled classified information.102 

			- A November 7, 2016 post from the IRA-controlled Twitter account @Pamela_Moore13 was retweeted by Donald J. Trump Jr.103 

			- On September 19, 2017, President Trump’s personal account @realDonaldTrump responded to a tweet from the IRA-controlled account @10_gop (the backup account of @TEN_GOP, which had already been deactivated by Twitter). The tweet read: “We love you, Mr. President!”104

			IRA employees monitored the reaction of the Trump Campaign and, later, Trump Administration officials to their tweets. For example, on August 23, 2016, the IRA-controlled persona “Matt Skiber” Facebook account sent a message to a U.S. Tea Party activist, writing that “Mr. Trump posted about our event in Miami! This is great!”105 The IRA employee included a screenshot of candidate Trump’s Facebook account, which included a post about the August 20, 2016 political rallies organized by the IRA.
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			Screenshot of Trump Facebook Account (from Matt Skiber)

			[+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +]106

			b. Contact with Trump Campaign Officials in Connection to Rallies

			Starting in June 2016, the IRA contacted different U.S. persons affiliated with the Trump Campaign in an effort to coordinate pro-Trump IRA-organized rallies inside the United States. In all cases, the IRA contacted the Campaign while claiming to be U.S. political activists working on behalf of a conservative grassroots organization. The IRA’s contacts included requests for signs and other materials to use at rallies,107 as well as requests to promote the rallies and help coordinate logistics.108 While certain campaign volunteers agreed to provide the requested support (for example, agreeing to set aside a number of signs), the investigation has not identified evidence that any Trump Campaign official understood the requests were coming from foreign nationals.

			*   *   *

			In sum, the investigation established that Russia interfered in the 2016 presidential election through the “active measures” social media campaign carried out by the IRA, an organization funded by Prigozhin and companies that he controlled. As explained further in Volume I, Section V.A, infra, the Office concluded (and a grand jury has alleged) that Prigozhin, his companies, and IRA employees violated U.S. law through these operations, principally by undermining through deceptive acts the work of federal agencies charged with regulating foreign influence in U.S. elections.
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